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INTRODUCTION

SAP SE is a European Company (Societas Europaea, or SE ) and is referred to in this report, together with its subsidiaries, as SAP, or as

Company, Group, we, our, or us. Our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 18. Financial Statements in this report have be
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, referred to
as IFRS throughout this report.

In this report: (i) references to US$, $, or dollars are to U.S. dollars; (ii) references to or euro are to the euro. Our financial statements are
denominated in euros, which is the currency of our home country, Germany. Certain amounts that appear in this report may not add up because
of differences due to rounding.

Unless otherwise specified herein, euro financial data have been converted into dollars at the noon buying rate in New York City for cable
transfers in foreign currencies as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the Noon Buying Rate ) on
December 31, 2014, which was US$1.2101 per 1.00. No representation is made that such euro amounts actually represent such dollar amounts or
that such euro amounts could have been or can be converted into dollars at that or any other exchange rate on such date or on any other date. The
rate used for the convenience translations also differs from the currency exchange rates used for the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements. This convenience translation is not a requirement under IFRS and, accordingly, our independent registered public accounting firm

has not audited these US$ amounts. For information regarding recent rates of exchange between euro and dollars, see Item 3. Key Information
Exchange Rates. On March 6, 2015, the Noon Buying Rate for converting euro to dollars was US$1.0855 per 1.00.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this report to ordinary shares are to SAP SE s ordinary shares, without nominal value.
References in this report to ADRs are to SAP SE s American Depositary Receipts, each representing one SAP ordinary share. References in this
reportto ADSs are to SAP SE s American Depositary Shares, which are the deposited securities evidenced by the ADRs.

SAP, ABAP, Adaptive Server, Advantage Database Server, Afaria, Ariba, Business ByDesign,

BusinessObjects, ByDesign, Concur, Crystal Reports, Expenselt, Fieldglass, GDSX, hybris, PartnerEdge, PowerBuilder, PowerDesigner,
Quadrem, R/3, Replication Server, SAP BusinessObjects Explorer, SAP Business Workflow, SAP EarlyWatch, SAP Fiori, SAP HANA, SAP
Jam, SAP Lumira, SAP NetWeaver, SAP S/AHANA, SAPPHIRE, SAPPHIRE NOW, Smart Expense, SQL Anywhere, Sybase, SuccessFactors,
The Best-Run Businesses Run SAP, TravelTrax, Triplt, TripLink, TwoGo, Web Intelligence and other SAP products and services mentioned
herein as well as their respective logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of SAP SE (or an SAP affiliate company) in Germany and other
countries.

Throughout this report, whenever a reference is made to our website, such reference does not incorporate by reference into this report the
information contained on our website.

We intend to make this report and other periodic reports publicly available on our web site (www.sap.com) without charge immediately
following our filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). We assume no obligation to update or revise any part of this
report, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless we are required to do so by law.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements and information based on the beliefs of, and assumptions made by, our management using
information currently available to them. Any statements contained in this report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements as
defined in the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current
expectations, assumptions, and projections about future conditions and events. As a result, our forward-looking statements and information are
subject to uncertainties and risks. A broad range of uncertainties and risks, many of which are beyond our control, could cause our actual results
and performance to differ materially from any projections expressed in or implied by our forward-looking statements. The uncertainties and risks
include, but are not limited to:

Uncertainty in the global economy, financial markets or political conditions could have a negative impact on our business, financial position,
profit, and cash flows and put pressure on our operating profit.
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Third parties have claimed, and might claim in the future, that we infringe their intellectual property rights, which could lead to damages
being awarded against us and limit our ability to use certain technologies in the future.

Claims and lawsuits against us could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, cash flows and reputation.

We may not be able to protect our critical information and assets or to safeguard our business operations against disruption.
We describe these and other risks and uncertainties in the Risk Factors section.

If one or more of these uncertainties or risks materializes, or if management s underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results could
differ materially from those described in or inferred from our forward-looking statements and information.

The words aim, anticipate, assume, believe, continue, could, countingon, isconfident, development, estimate, expect, fo
guidance, intend, may, might, outlook, plan, project, predict, seek, should, strategy, want, will, would, and simila

us are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such statements include, for example, those made in the Operating Results (IFRS)

section, our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk pursuant to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),

namely IFRS 7 and related statements in our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Expected Developments section, the Risk

Factors section, and other forward-looking information appearing in other parts of this report. To fully consider the factors that could affect our

future financial results, both this report and our Annual Report should be considered, as well as all of our other filings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission (SEC). Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of

the date specified or the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements as a result of

new information that we receive about conditions that existed upon issuance of this report, future events, or otherwise unless we are required to

do so by law.

This report includes statistical data about the IT industry and global economic trends that comes from information published by sources
including

International Data Corporation (IDC), a provider of market information and advisory services for the information technology,
telecommunications, and consumer technology markets; the European Central Bank (ECB); and the International Monetary Fund (IMF). This
type of data represents only the estimates of IDC, ECB, IMF, and other sources of industry data. SAP does not adopt or endorse any of the
statistical information provided by sources such as IDC, ECB, IMF, or other similar sources that is contained in this report. In addition, although
we believe that data from these sources is generally reliable, this type of data is imprecise. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on this
data.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

We use various performance measures to help manage our performance with regard to our primary financial goals, which are growth and
profitability, and our primary non-financial goals, which are customer loyalty and employee engagement. We view growth and profitability as
indicators for our current performance, while customer loyalty and employee engagement are indicators for our future performance.

Measures We Use to Manage Our Financial Performance

Measures We Use to Manage Our Operating Financial Performance
In 2014, we used the following key measures to manage our operating financial performance:

Cloud subscriptions and support revenue (non-IFRS): This revenue driver comprises the main revenues of our fast-growing cloud business.
We generate cloud subscriptions and support revenue (non-IFRS) when we provide software and the respective support for delivery in the cloud.
We use the measure cloud subscriptions and support revenue both at actual currency and at constant currency.

Software and software-related service (SSRS) revenue (non-IFRS): We use SSRS revenue (non-IFRS) and constant currency SSRS revenue
(non-IFRS) to measure our revenue growth. Our SSRS revenue includes cloud subscriptions and support revenue plus software and related
support revenue. Cloud subscriptions and support revenue and software revenue are our key revenue drivers because they tend to affect our
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other revenue streams. Generally, customers that buy software licenses also enter into maintenance contracts, and these generate recurring
software-related service revenue in the form of support revenue after the software sale. Maintenance contracts cover support services and
software updates and enhancements. Software revenue as well as cloud subscriptions and support revenue also tend to stimulate service revenue
from consulting and training sales.

New and upsell bookings: For our cloud activities, we also look at new and upsell bookings. This measure reflects the committed order entry
of a given period from new customers and from incremental purchases by existing customers for offerings that generate cloud subscription
revenue. Thus, it is an indicator for cloud-related sales success in a period and for secured future cloud subscription revenue. We focus primarily
on the average contract value variant of the new and upsell bookings measure that considers annualized amounts for multiyear contracts.
Additionally, we monitor the total contract value variant of the new and upsell bookings measure that considers the total committed order entry
amounts regardless of the contract durations. There are no comparable IFRS measures for these bookings metrics.

Operating profit (non-IFRS)/operating margin (non-IFRS): We use operating profit (non-IFRS)/operating margin (non-IFRS) and constant
currency operating profit (non-IFRS)/operating margin (non-IFRS) to measure our overall operational process efficiency and overall business
performance. Operating margin (non-IFRS) is the ratio of our operating profit (non-IFRS) to total revenue (non-IFRS), expressed as a
percentage. See below for more information on the IFRS and non-IFRS measures we use.

Measures We Use to Manage Our Non-Operating Financial Performance
We use the following measures to manage our non-operating financial performance:

Financial income, net: This measure provides insight especially into the return on liquid assets and capital investments and the cost of
borrowed funds. To manage our financial income, net, we focus on cash flow, the composition of our liquid asset and capital investment
portfolio, and the average rate of interest at which assets are invested. We also monitor average outstanding borrowings and the associated
finance costs.

Days Sales Outstanding (DSO) and Days Payables Outstanding (DPO): We manage working capital by controlling the days sales outstanding
for operating receivables, or DSO (defined as average number of days from the raised invoice to cash receipt from the customer), and the days
payables outstanding for operating liabilities, or DPO (defined as average number of days from the received invoice to cash payment to the

vendor).

Measures We Use to Manage Overall Financial Performance
We use the following measures to manage our overall financial performance:

Earnings per share (EPS): EPS measures our overall performance because it captures all operating and non-operating elements of profit as
well as income tax expense. It represents the portion of profit after tax allocable to each SAP share outstanding (using the weighted average
number of shares outstanding over the reporting period). EPS is influenced not only by our operating and non-operating business, and income
taxes but also by the number of shares outstanding. We are authorized by our shareholders to repurchase shares and believe that such
repurchases, additional to dividend distributions, are a good means to return value to our shareholders.

Effective tax rate: We define our effective tax rate as the ratio of income tax expense to profit before tax, expressed as a percentage.

Operating, investing, and financing cash flows and free cash flow: Our consolidated statement of cash flows provides insight as to how we
generated and used cash and cash equivalents. When used in conjunction with the other primary financial statements, it provides information that
helps us evaluate the changes of our net assets, our financial structure (including our liquidity and solvency), and our ability to affect the
amounts and timing of cash flows in order to adapt to changing circumstances and opportunities. We use our free cash flow measure to estimate
the cash flow remaining after all expenditures required to maintain or expand our organic business have been paid off. This measure provides
management with supplemental information to assess our liquidity needs. We calculate free cash flow as net cash from operating activities

minus purchases (other than purchases made in connection with business combinations) of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment.
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Measures We Use to Manage Our Non-Financial Performance

In 2014, we used the following key measures to manage our non-financial performance in the areas of employee engagement and customer
loyalty:

Employee Engagement Index: We use the employee engagement index to measure the motivation and loyalty of our employees, how proud
they are of our company, and how strongly they identity with SAP. The index is derived from surveys conducted among our employees. With
this measure, we recognize that we can achieve our growth strategy with engaged employees only.

Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS):  This score measures the willingness of our customers to recommend or promote SAP to others. It is
derived from our customer survey. Conducted each year, this survey identifies, on a scale of 0 10, whether a customer is loyal and likely to
recommend SAP to friends or colleagues, is neutral, or is unhappy. We introduced this measure in 2012, as we are convinced that we can
achieve our financial goals only when our customers are loyal to, and satisfied with, SAP and our solutions. To derive the Customer NPS, we
start with the percentage of promoters of SAP those who give us a score of 9 or 10 on a scale of 0 to 10. We then subtract the percentage of

detractors  those who give us a score of 0 to 6. The method ignores passives, who give us a score of 7 or 8. In addition to our on-premise
customers, in 2014 for the first time we included Ariba, SuccessFactors and Sybase customers in the survey. Therefore, the 2014 Customer NPS
score is not fully comparable to the prior year s score.

Value-Based Management
Our holistic view of the performance measures described above, together with our associated

analyses, comprises the information we use for value-based management. We use planning and control processes to manage the compilation of
these key measures and their availability to our decision makers across various management levels.

SAP s long-term strategic plans are the point of reference for our other planning and controlling processes, including a multiyear plan through
2020. We identity future growth and profitability drivers at a highly aggregated level. This process is intended to identify the best areas in which
to target sustained investment. Next, we evaluate our multiyear plans for our support and development functions and break down the
customer-facing plans by sales region. Based on our detailed annual plans, we determine the budget for the respective year. We also have
processes in place to forecast revenue and profit on a quarterly basis, to quantify whether we expect to realize our strategic goals, and to identify
any deviations from plan. We continuously monitor the concerned units in the Group to analyze these developments and define any appropriate
actions.

Our entire network of planning, control, and reporting processes is implemented in integrated planning and information systems, based on SAP
software, across all organizational units so that we can conduct the evaluations and analyses needed to make informed decisions.

Non-IFRS Financial Measures Cited in This Report

As in previous years, we provided our 2014 financial outlook on the basis of certain non-IFRS measures. Therefore, this report contains a
non-IFRS based comparison of our actual performance in 2014 against our outlook in the Performance Against Outlook for 2014 (Non-IFRS)
section.
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Reconciliations of IFRS to Non-IFRS Financial Measures for 2014 and 2013

The following table reconciles our IFRS financial measures to the respective and most comparable non-IFRS financial measures of this report
for each of 2014 and 2013. Due to rounding, the sum of the numbers presented in this table might not precisely equal the totals we provide.

Reconciliations of IFRS to Non-IFRS Financial Measures for the Years Ended December 31

millions, unless otherwise stated

2014 2013
Non-IFRS
Currency  Constant Non-
IFRS Adj. Non-IFRS Impact Currency IFRS Adj. IFRS
Revenue measures
Cloud subscriptions and support 1,087 14 1,101 3 1,098 696 61 757
Software 4,399 0 4,399 0 4,399 4,516 2 4,518
Support 9,368 5 9,373 114 9,487 8,738 19 8,756
Software and support 13,767 5 13,773 113 13,886 13,254 21 13,275
Software and software-related service revenue 14,855 19 14,874 110 14,984 13,950 82 14,032
Professional services and other service revenue 2,706 0 2,706 32 2,738 2,865 0 2,865
Total revenue 17,560 19 17,580 142 17,722 16,815 82 16,897
Operating expense measures
Cost of software and software-related services 2,894 350 2,543 2,629 364 2,265
Cost of professional services and other services 2,379 121 2,258 2,402 123 2,278
Total cost of revenue 5,272 471 4,801 5,031 487 4,543
Gross profit 12,288 490 12,778 11,784 570 12,354
Research and development 2,331 127 2,204 2,282 120 2,162
Sales and marketing 4,304 170 4,134 4,131 205 3,926
General and administration 892 86 806 866 70 796
Restructuring 126 126 0 70 70 0
TomorrowNow and Versata litigation 309 309 0 31 31 0
Other operating income/expense, net 4 0 4 12 0 12
Total operating expenses 13,230 1,288 11,942 152 12,093 12,336 921 11,415
Operating profit measures
Operating profit 4,331 1,307 5,638 9 5,628 4,479 1,003 5,482
Operating margin (in %) 24.7 32.1 31.8 26.6 324

Explanation of Non-IFRS Measures

We disclose certain financial measures, such as revenue (non-IFRS), operating expenses (non-IFRS), operating profit (non-IFRS), operating
margin (non-IFRS), earnings per share (non-IFRS), deferred revenue (non-IFRS), and calculated cloud billings measures (non-IFRS), as well as
constant currency revenue, expense, profit, deferred revenue, and calculated cloud billings measures that are not prepared in accordance with
IFRS and are therefore considered non-IFRS financial measures. Our non-IFRS financial measures may

not correspond to non-IFRS financial measures that other companies report. The non-IFRS financial measures that we report should only be
considered in addition to, and not as substitutes for or superior to, our IFRS financial measures.

We believe that the disclosed supplemental historical and prospective non-IFRS financial information provides useful information to investors
because management uses this information, in addition to financial data prepared in accordance with IFRS, to attain a more transparent
understanding of our past
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performance and our anticipated future results or in the case of calculated cloud billings (non-IFRS) management uses the measures to
anticipate metrics that investors use. We use the revenue (non-IFRS) and profit (non-IFRS) measures consistently in our internal planning and
forecasting, reporting and compensation, as well as in our external communications, as follows:

Our management primarily uses these non-IFRS measures rather than IFRS measures as the basis for making financial, strategic, and
operating decisions.

The variable components of our Executive Board members and employees remuneration are based on revenue (non-IFRS) and operating
profit (non-IFRS) measures rather than the respective IFRS measures.

The annual budgeting process for all management units is based on revenue (non-IFRS) and operating profit (non-IFRS) numbers rather than
the respective IFRS financial measures.

All forecast and performance reviews with all senior managers globally are based on these non-IFRS measures, rather than the respective
IFRS financial measures.

Both our internal performance targets and the guidance we provided to the capital markets are based on revenue (non-IFRS) and profit
(non-IFRS) measures rather than the respective IFRS financial measures.
Our non-IFRS financial measures reflect adjustments based on the items below, as well as adjustments for the related income tax effects.

Revenue (Non-IFRS)

Revenue items identified as revenue (non-IFRS) have been adjusted from the respective IFRS financial measures by including the full amount of
support revenue, cloud subscriptions and support revenue, and other similarly recurring revenue that we are not permitted to record as revenue
under IFRS due to fair value accounting for the contracts in effect at the time of the respective acquisitions.

Under IFRS, we record at fair value the contracts in effect at the time entities were acquired. Consequently, our IFRS support revenue, IFRS
cloud subscriptions and support revenue, IFRS software and software-related service revenue, and IFRS total revenue for periods subsequent to
acquisitions do not reflect the full amount of

revenue that would have been recorded by entities acquired by SAP had they remained stand-alone entities. Adjusting revenue numbers for this
revenue impact provides additional insight into the comparability of our ongoing performance across periods.

Operating Expense (Non-IFRS)

Operating expense numbers that are identified as operating expenses (non-IFRS) have been adjusted by excluding the following expenses:

Acquisition-related charges

Amortization expense/impairment charges of intangibles acquired in business combinations and certain stand-alone acquisitions of
intellectual property (including purchased in-process research and development)

Settlements of pre-existing business relationships in connection with a business combination
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Acquisition-related third-party expenses

Expenses from the TomorrowNow litigation (formerly labeled as discontinued activities) and the Versata litigation cases
Share-based payment expenses

Restructuring expenses

We exclude certain acquisition-related expenses for the purpose of calculating operating profit (non-IFRS), operating margin (non-IFRS), and
earnings per share (non-IFRS) when evaluating SAP s continuing operational performance because these expenses generally cannot be changed
or influenced by management after the relevant acquisition other than by disposing of the acquired assets. Since management at levels below the
Executive Board does not influence these expenses, we generally do not consider these expenses for the purpose of evaluating the performance
of management units. Additionally, these non-IFRS measures have been adjusted from the respective IFRS measures for the results of the
share-based payment expenses and restructuring expenses, as well as the TomorrowNow and Versata litigation expenses.

The adjustment for expenses and income from the Versata litigation was introduced in 2014 (for details regarding this litigation refer to our
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (24)). Prior-year amounts have been adjusted to comply with the modified set of
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non-IFRS adjustments. We exclude expenses and income from the Versata litigation to provide additional insight into the comparability of our
ongoing operating performance across periods and to continue the alignment of our non-IFRS measures with our internal performance measures.

Operating Profit (Non-IFRS), Operating Margin (Non-IFRS), and Earnings per Share (Non-IFRS)

Operating profit, operating margin, and earnings per share identified as operating profit (non-IFRS), operating margin (non-IFRS), and earnings
per share (non-IFRS) have been adjusted from the respective IFRS measures by adjusting for the above-mentioned revenue (non-IFRS) and
operating expenses (non-IFRS).

Deferred Cloud Subscriptions and Support Revenue (Non-IFRS) and Calculated Cloud Billings (Non-IFRS)

It is common in capital markets to use metrics based on billings to help evaluate the performance of cloud subscription offerings. A common
metric of this kind is calculated cloud billings that can be calculated as the total of a period s cloud subscriptions and support revenue and the
respective period s change in the deferred cloud subscriptions and support revenue balance. To ease the effort of determining this metric, we
report the metric s components as well as a calculation of the metric itself. To allow an alignment of this calculated cloud billings metric with our
revenue reporting, we present the calculated cloud billings metric on an IFRS basis (that is, derived from IFRS numbers) as well as on a
non-IFRS basis and a non-IFRS at constant currency basis. The calculated cloud billings (non-IFRS) are derived from both:

Our cloud subscriptions and support revenue (non-IFRS), which is adjusted from the respective IFRS number for the effect of fair value
accounting for the contracts in effect at the time of the respective acquisitions as outlined above

Our deferred cloud subscriptions and support revenue (non-IFRS), which is adjusted from the respective IFRS number accordingly
Constant Currency Information

We believe it is important for investors to have information that provides insight into our sales.

Revenue measures determined under IFRS provide information that is useful in this regard. However, both sales volume and currency effects
impact period-over-period changes in sales revenue. We do not sell standardized units of products and services, so we cannot provide relevant
information on sales volume by providing data on the changes in product and service units sold. To provide additional information that may be
useful to investors in breaking down and evaluating changes in sales volume, we present information about our revenue and various values and
components relating to operating profit that are adjusted for foreign currency effects.

We calculate constant currency revenue and operating profit measures by translating foreign currencies using the average exchange rates from
the comparative period instead of the current period. Constant currency deferred revenue balances are calculated by translating the current

period s opening and closing deferred revenues balances as well as the comparative period s closing deferred revenue balance using the opening
exchange rates of the comparative period.

Free Cash Flow

The following table shows our free cash flow measure. We use this measure among others to manage our overall financial performance.

Free Cash Flow
Change
millions 2014 2013 (in %)
Net cash flows from operating activities 3,499 3,832 9
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment (without
acquisitions) 737 566 30
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Free cash flow 2,762 3,266 15
Usefulness of Non-IFRS Measures

We believe that our non-IFRS measures are useful to investors for the following reasons:

Our revenue (non-IFRS), expense (non-IFRS), and profit (non-IFRS) measures provide investors with insight into management s decision
making because management uses these non-IFRS measures to run our business and make financial, strategic, and operating
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decisions. We include the revenue adjustments outlined above and exclude the expense adjustments outlined above when making decisions to
allocate resources. In addition, we use these non-IFRS measures to gain a better understanding of SAP s operating performance from period
to period.

The non-IFRS measures provide investors with additional information that enables a comparison of year-over-year operating performance by
eliminating certain direct effects of acquisitions, share based compensation plans, restructuring plans, and the TomorrowNow and Versata
litigation cases.

Non-IFRS and non-GAAP measures are widely used in the software industry. In many cases, inclusion of our non-IFRS measures may
facilitate comparison with our competitors corresponding non-IFRS and non-GAAP measures.

Our deferred cloud subscriptions and support revenue (non-IFRS) and calculated cloud billings (non-IFRS) metrics provide additional insight
into amounts that are contracted for and invoiced and that are expected to be recognized in cloud subscriptions and support revenue in the
future.

Limitations of Non-IFRS Measures

We believe that our non-IFRS financial measures described above have limitations, including but not limited to, the following:

The eliminated amounts could be material to us.

Without being analyzed in conjunction with the corresponding IFRS measures, the non-IFRS measures are not indicative of our present and
future performance, foremost for the following reasons:

While our profit (non-IFRS) numbers reflect the elimination of certain acquisition-related expenses, no eliminations are made for the
additional revenue that result from the acquisitions.

While we adjust for the fair value accounting of the acquired entities recurring revenue contracts, we do not adjust for the fair value
accounting of deferred compensation items that result from commissions paid to the acquired company s sales force and third parties for
closing the respective customer contracts.

The acquisition-related charges that we eliminate in deriving our profit (non-IFRS) numbers are likely to recur should SAP enter into
material business combinations in the future. Similarly, the restructuring expenses that we eliminate in deriving our profit (non-IFRS)
numbers are likely to recur should SAP perform restructurings in the future.

The acquisition-related amortization expense that we eliminate in deriving our profit (non-IFRS) numbers is a recurring expense that will
impact our financial performance in future years.

The revenue adjustment for the fair value accounting of the acquired entities contracts and the expense adjustment for acquisition-related
charges do not arise from a common conceptual basis. This is because the revenue adjustment aims to improve the comparability of the
initial post-acquisition period with future post-acquisition periods, while the expense adjustment aims to improve the comparability
between post-acquisition periods and pre-acquisition periods. This should particularly be considered when evaluating our operating profit
(non-IFRS) and operating margin (non-IFRS) numbers as these combine our revenue (non-IFRS) and expenses (non-IFRS) despite the
absence of a common conceptual basis.
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Our restructuring charges could result in significant cash outflows. The same applies to our share-based payment expense because most of
our share-based payments are settled in cash rather than shares.

The valuation of our cash-settled share-based payments could vary significantly from period to period due to the fluctuation of our share
price and other parameters used in the valuation of these plans.

In the past, we have issued share-based payment awards to our employees every year and we intend to continue doing so in the future.
Thus, our share-based payment expenses are recurring although the amounts usually change from period to period.

The deferred cloud subscriptions and support revenue (non-IFRS) and calculated cloud billings (non-IFRS) metrics that we disclose may
be impacted significantly by our revenue recognition policies, for example, when fees from components other than cloud subscriptions
sold in multiple element
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arrangements with cloud subscriptions are reallocated to cloud subscriptions and vice versa. Thus, our calculated cloud billings

(non-IFRS) metrics for a given period may not be indicative of the amounts that we have actually billed to customers in the respective

period.
We believe that constant currency measures have limitations, particularly as the currency effects that are eliminated constitute a significant
element of our revenue and expenses and could materially impact our performance. Therefore, we limit our use of constant currency measures to
the analysis of changes in volume as one element of the full change in a financial measure. Additionally, we use different prior period exchange
rates for deferred revenue versus revenue items to adjust for currencies. We do not evaluate our results and performance without considering
both constant currency measures in revenue (non-IFRS) and operating profit (non-IFRS) measures on the one hand, and changes in revenue,
operating expenses, operating profit, or other measures of financial

performance prepared in accordance with IFRS on the other. We caution the readers of our financial reports to follow a similar approach by
considering constant currency measures only in addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to, changes in revenue, operating expenses,
operating profit, or other measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Despite these limitations, we believe that the presentation of the non-IFRS measures and the corresponding IFRS measures, together with the
relevant reconciliations, provide useful information to management and investors regarding present and future business trends relating to our
financial condition and results of operations. We do not evaluate our growth and performance without considering both non-IFRS measures and
the comparable IFRS measures. We caution the readers of our financial reports to follow a similar approach by considering our non-IFRS
measures only in addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to, revenue or other measures of our financial performance prepared in
accordance with IFRS.

Table of Contents 20



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I

Item1,2,3

PART 1

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated financial data as of and for each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31,
2014. The consolidated financial data has been derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS),
presented in Item 18. Financial Statements of this report.

Our selected financial data and our Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euros. Financial data as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2014 has been translated into U.S. dollars for the convenience of the reader.

10
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA: IFRS
millions, unless otherwise stated 20140 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

US$

Income Statement Data:
Years ended December 31,
Software and software-related service revenue 17,975 14,855 13,950 13,165 11,319 9,794
Total revenue 21,250 17,560 16,815 16,223 14,233 12,464
Operating profit 5,240 4331 4,479 4,041 4,884 2,591
Operating margin in %? 24.7 24.7 26.6 24.9 34.3 20.8
Profit after tax 3,969 3,280 3,325 2,803 3,437 1,813
Profit attributable to owners of parent 3,969 3,280 3,326 2,803 3,435 1,811
Earnings per share®
Basic in 3.32 2.75 2.79 2.35 2.89 1.52
Diluted in 3.32 2.74 2.78 2.35 2.89 1.52
Other Data:
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding
Basic 1,195 1,195 1,193 1,192 1,189 1,188
Diluted 1,197 1,197 1,195 1,193 1,190 1,189
Statement of Financial Position Data: At December 31,
Cash and cash equivalents 4,027 3,328 2,748 2,477 4,965 3,518
Total assets® 46,597 38,507 27,091 26,306 23,227 20,839
Current financial liabilities® 3,099 2,561 748 802 1,331 142
Non-current financial liabilities® 10,867 8,980 3,758 4,446 2,925 4,449
Issued capital 1,487 1,229 1,229 1,229 1,228 1,227
Total equity 23,715 19,598 16,048 14,133 12,689 9,824

(I Amounts presented in US$ have been translated for the convenience of the reader at  1.00 to US$1.2101, the Noon Buying Rate for converting 1.00 into
dollars on December 31, 2014. See Item 3. Key Information ~Exchange Rates for recent exchange rates between the Euro and the dollar.

(2 Operating profit is the numerator and total revenue is the denominator in the calculation of operating margin. Profit attributable to owners of parent is the
numerator and weighted average number of shares outstanding is the denominator in the calculation of earnings per share. See Note (12) to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information on earnings per share.

() The large increase in total assets from 2011 to 2012 was mainly due to the acquisitions of SuccessFactors and Ariba in 2012, whereas the large increase in
total assets from 2013 to 2014 was mainly due to the acquisition of Concur. See Note (4) to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on
acquisitions.

(4 The balances include primarily bonds, private placements and bank loans. Current is defined as having a remaining life of one year or less; non-current is
defined as having a remaining term exceeding one year. The significant increase in non-current financial liabilities in 2012 was due to the issuance of a U.S.
private placement transaction and Eurobonds in the course of the acquisition of Ariba. The significant increase from 2013 to 2014 was due to a long-term
bank loan and the issuance of a three-tranche Eurobond, both in connection with the Concur acquisition. See Note (18b) to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information on our financial liabilities.
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EXCHANGE RATES

The sales prices for our ordinary shares traded on German stock exchanges are denominated in euro. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between
the euro and the U.S. dollar affect the dollar equivalent of the euro price of the ordinary shares traded on the German stock exchanges and, as a
result, may affect the price of the ADRs traded on the NYSE in the United States. See Item 9. The Offer and Listing for a description of the
ADREs. In addition, SAP SE pays cash dividends, if any, in euro. As a result, any exchange rate fluctuations will also affect the dollar amounts
received by the holders of ADRs on the conversion into dollars of cash dividends paid in euro on the ordinary shares represented by the ADRs.
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas is the depositary (the Depositary) for SAP SE s ADR program. The deposit agreement with respect to
the ADRs requires the Depositary to convert any dividend payments from euro into dollars as promptly as practicable upon receipt. For
additional information on the Depositary and the fees associated with SAP s ADR program see Item 12 Description of Securities Other Than
Equity Securities American Depositary Shares.

A significant portion of our revenue and expense is denominated in currencies other than the euro. Therefore, fluctuations in the exchange rate
between the euro and the respective currencies in which we conduct business could materially affect our business, financial position, income or
cash flows. See Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects  Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure for details on the impact of
these exchange rate fluctuations.

The following table sets forth (i) the average, high and low Noon Buying Rates for the euro expressed as U.S. dollars per 1.00 for the past five
years on an annual basis and (ii) the high and low Noon Buying Rates on a monthly basis from July 2014 through and including March 6, 2015.

Year Average() High Low

2010 1.3216 1.4536 1.1959
2011 1.4002 1.4875 1.2926
2012 1.2909 1.3463 1.2062
2013 1.3303 1.3816 1.2774
2014 1.3210 1.3927 1.2101
Month High Low
2014

July 1.3681 1.3378
August 1.3436 1.3150
September 1.3136 1.2628
October 1.2812 1.2517
November 1.2554 1.2394
December 1.2504 1.2101
2015

January 1.2015 1.1279
February 1.1462 1.1197
March (through March 6, 2015) 1.1212 1.0855

(1) The average of the applicable Noon Buying Rates on the last day of each month during the relevant period.
The Noon Buying Rate on March 6, 2015 was US$1.0855 per 1.00.

DIVIDENDS
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Dividend Distribution Policy

Dividends are jointly proposed by SAP SE s Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat) and Executive Board (Vorstand) based on SAP SE s year-end
stand-alone statutory financial statements, subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Dividends are officially declared
for the prior year at SAP SE s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. SAP SE s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders usually convenes
during the second quarter of each year. Dividends are usually remitted to the custodian bank on behalf of the shareholder within one business
day following the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Record holders of the ADRs on the dividend record date will be entitled to receive
payment of the dividend declared in respect of the year for which it is declared. Cash dividends payable to such holders will be paid to the
Depositary in euro and, subject to certain exceptions, will be converted by the Depositary into U.S. dollars.

Dividends paid to holders of the ADRs may be subject to German withholding tax. See Item 8. Financial Information Other Financial
Information Dividend Policy and Item 10. Additional Information Taxation, for further information.
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Annual Dividends Paid and Proposed

The following table sets forth in euro the annual dividends paid or proposed to be paid per ordinary share in respect of each of the years
indicated. One SAP ADR currently represents one SAP SE ordinary share. Accordingly, the final dividend per ADR is equal to the dividend for
one SAP SE ordinary share and is dependent on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate. The table does not reflect tax credits that may be available to
German taxpayers who receive dividend payments. If you own our ordinary shares or ADRs and if you are a U.S. resident, refer to Item 10.
Additional Information Taxation, for further information.

Dividend Paid per

Ordinary Share
Year Ended December 31, US$
2010 0.60 0.85M
2011 1.10% 1.38M
2012 0.85 1.11®
2013 1.00 1.370
2014(proposed) 1.10® 1.199®

(1) Translated for the convenience of the reader from euro into U.S. dollars at the Noon Buying Rate for converting euro into U.S. dollars on the dividend
payment date. The Depositary is required to convert any dividend payments received from SAP as promptly as practicable upon receipt.

() Thereof a special dividend of 0.35 per share to celebrate our 40 anniversary.

() Subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of SAP SE currently scheduled to be held on May 20, 2015.

@) Translated for the convenience of the reader from euro into U.S. dollars at the Noon Buying Rate for converting euro into U.S. dollars on March 6, 2015 of
US$1.0855 per 1.00. The dividend paid may differ due to changes in the exchange rate.

The amount of dividends paid on the ordinary shares depends on the amount of profits to be distributed by SAP SE, which depends in part upon
our performance. In addition, the amount of dividends received by holders of ADRs may be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates (see Item
3. Key Information Exchange Rates ). The timing and amount of future dividend payments will depend upon our future earnings, capital needs
and other relevant factors, in each case as proposed by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of SAP SE and approved by the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

RISK FACTORS

Economic, Political, Social, and Regulatory Risk

Uncertainty in the global economy, financial markets, or political conditions could have a negative impact on our business, financial
position, profit, and cash flows, and put pressure on our operating profit.
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Our business is influenced by multiple risk factors that are both difficult to predict and beyond our influence and control. These factors include
global economic and business conditions and fluctuations in national currencies. Other examples are political developments and general
regulations, as well as budgetary constraints or shifts in spending priorities of national governments.

Macroeconomic developments, such as a global economic crisis, chronic fiscal imbalances and slowing economic conditions in emerging
markets, might decrease the ability and willingness of our customers to invest in our solutions or might lead to delays in purchasing. In addition,
changes in the euro rates for particular currencies might have an adverse effect on business activities with local customers and partners.
Furthermore, political instabilities in regions such as the Middle East and Africa, crisis situations (such as in Ukraine), natural disasters, and
pandemic diseases (such as Ebola) contribute to economic and political uncertainty.

These events could reduce the demand for SAP software and services, and lead to:

Delays in purchases, decreased deal size, or cancelations of proposed investments

Potential lawsuits from customers due to denied provision of service as a result of sanctioned party lists or export control issues

Higher credit barriers for customers, reducing their ability to finance software purchases

Increased number of bankruptcies among customers, business partners, and key suppliers

Increased default risk, which may lead to significant impairment charges in the future

13
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Market disruption from aggressive competitive behavior, acquisitions, or business practices

Increased price competition and demand for cheaper products and services
Any one or more of these might reduce our ability to sell and deliver our software and services which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Our international business activities expose us to numerous and sometimes even conflicting regulatory requirements, and to risks that
could harm our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

We are a global company and currently market our products and services in more than 180 countries and territories in the Americas (including
Latin America and North America); Asia Pacific Japan (APJ); China, Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macau (Greater China); Europe, Middle East,
and Africa (EMEA); and Middle and Eastern Europe (MEE) regions. Our business in these countries is subject to numerous risks inherent in
international business operations. Among others, these risks include:

Conflict and overlap among tax regimes

Possible tax constraints impeding business operations in certain countries

Expenses associated with the localization of our products and compliance with local regulatory requirements

Discriminatory or conflicting fiscal policies

Operational difficulties in countries with a high corruption perceptions index

Protectionist trade policies and regulations for import and export

Works councils, labor unions, and immigration laws in different countries

Data protection and privacy in regard to access by government authorities to customer, partner, or employee data

Difficulties enforcing intellectual property and contractual rights in certain jurisdictions
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Country-specific software certification requirements
As we expand further into new countries and markets, these risks could intensify. The

application of these laws and regulations to our business is sometimes unclear, subject to change over time, and sometimes may conflict between
different jurisdictions. Additionally these laws and governments approach to enforcement, as well as our products and services, are continuing to
change and evolve. Compliance with these types of regulation may involve significant costs or require changes in products or business practices.
Non-compliance could result in penalties being imposed on us or orders that we stop the alleged noncompliant activity. One or more of these
factors could have an adverse effect on our operations globally or in one or more countries or regions, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Social and political instability caused by state-based conflicts, terrorist attacks, civil unrest, war, or international hostilities, as well as
pandemic disease outbreaks or natural disasters, may disrupt SAP s business operations.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war, civil and political unrest (such as in the Middle East, in Ukraine, Israel, Syria, Libya, and in
other parts of Africa), natural disasters (such as hurricanes, flooding, or similar events) or pandemic diseases (such as Ebola) could have a
significant adverse effect on the related economy or beyond. Such an event could lead, for example, to the loss of a significant number of our
employees, or to the disruption or disablement of operations at our locations, and could affect our ability to provide business services and
maintain effective business operations. Furthermore, this could have a significant adverse effect on our partners as well as our customers and
their investment decisions, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Market Risks

Our established customers might not buy additional software solutions, subscribe to our cloud offerings, renew maintenance
agreements, purchase additional professional services, or they might switch to other products or service offerings (including competitive
products).

In 2014, we offered a wide range of support services including SAP MaxAttention, SAP Enterprise Support, and SAP Product Support for
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Large Enterprises. We continue to depend materially on the success of our support portfolio and on our ability to deliver high-quality services.
Traditionally, our large installed customer base generates additional new software, maintenance, consulting, and training revenue. Despite the
high quality and service level of our transformed and expanded service offering in the area of premium engagements, we may be unable to meet
customer expectations. Existing customers might cancel or not renew their maintenance contracts, decide not to buy additional products and
services, not subscribe to our cloud offerings, or accept alternative offerings from other vendors. In addition, the increasing volume in our cloud
business as well as the conversion of traditional on-premise licenses to cloud subscription licenses could have a potential negative impact on our
software and maintenance revenue streams. This could have an adverse effect on our on-premise software and maintenance business, financial
position, profit, and cash flows.

The success of our cloud computing strategy depends on market perception and an increasing market adoption of our cloud solutions
and managed cloud services. Insufficient adoption of our solutions and services could lead to a loss of SAP s position as a leading cloud
company.

The market for cloud computing is increasing and shows strong growth relative to the market for our on-premise solutions. To offer a broad
cloud service portfolio and generate the associated business value for our customers, we have acquired cloud computing companies such as
SuccessFactors, Ariba, Fieldglass and Concur. Due to ongoing contracts and previous substantial investments to integrate traditional on-premise
enterprise software into their businesses, customers and partners might be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to the cloud.

Other factors that could affect the market acceptance of cloud solutions include:

Concerns with entrusting a third party to store and manage critical employee or company confidential data

Customer concerns about security capabilities and reliability

Customer concerns about the ability to scale operations for large enterprise customers
The level of configurability or customizability of the software

Missing integration scenarios between on-premise products and cloud-to-cloud solutions

Failure in secure and successful delivery of cloud services by any cloud service provider could have a negative impact on customer trust in
cloud solutions

Strategic alliances amongst our competitors in the cloud area could lead to significantly increased competition in the market
If organizations do not perceive the benefits of cloud computing, the market for cloud business might not develop further, or it may develop
more slowly than we expect, either of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, reputation and cash flows.

Our market share and profit could decline due to increased competition, market consolidation and technological innovation, and new
business models in the software industry.
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The software industry continues to evolve rapidly and is currently undergoing a significant shift due to innovations in the areas of mobile, Big
Data, connectivity, the Internet of Things, digital, cloud computing, and social media. While smaller innovative companies tend to create new
markets continuously, large traditional IT vendors tend to enter such markets mostly through acquisitions. SAP faces increased competition in its
business environment from traditional as well as new competitors. This could result in increased price pressure, cost increases, and loss of
market share, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Additionally, customers could change their buying behavior by accelerating their acceptance of cloud solutions to reduce their investments
which might have a temporary adverse effect on our operating results. Furthermore, the trend in the market to invest more in cloud solutions
might lead to an increased risk of the potential loss of existing on-premise customers. It may also have a temporary adverse effect on our
revenue due to an increased number of conversions from on-premise licenses to cloud subscriptions from existing SAP customers in our
installed base.
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Business Strategy Risks

Demand for our new solutions may not develop as planned and our strategy on new business models and flexible consumption models
may not be successful.

Our software business consists of new software licenses, software license updates, and support and maintenance fees, as well as of cloud
subscriptions. Our customers are looking to take advantage of technological breakthroughs from SAP without compromising their previous IT
investments. However, the introduction of new SAP solutions, technologies, and business models as well as delivery and consumption models is
subject to uncertainties as to whether customers will be able to perceive the additional value and realize the expected benefits. There is an
increased risk that such uncertainties may lead customers to wait for reference customers first, which might result in a lower level of adoption of
our new solutions, technologies, business models and flexible consumption models, or no adoption at all. This could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

We recognize cloud subscription and support revenue over the term of the respective service periods, and our business depends
substantially on customers renewing their agreements and purchasing additional modules or user licenses from us. Although any
downturns or upturns in cloud sales may not be immediately reflected in our operating results, any decline in our customer renewals
would harm the future operating results of the cloud business.

We recognize cloud subscription and support revenue over the respective service provision, which typically range from one to three years with
some up to five years. As a result, most of the respective revenue recognized in a given period originates from agreements entered into in earlier
periods. Consequently, a shortfall in demand for our cloud portfolio in any period may not significantly impact our cloud subscription and
support revenue for that quarter, but could have an adverse effect on targeted cloud subscription and support revenue in future periods.

To maintain or improve our operating results in the cloud business, it is important that our

customers renew their agreements with us when the initial contract term expires and purchase additional modules or additional users. Our
customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions after the initial subscription period, and we cannot assure that customers will renew
subscriptions at the same or at a higher level of service, or at all.

Our customers renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our
cloud solution and services portfolio, the integration capabilities of our cloud solutions into their existing solution environment (including hybrid
solutions combining both cloud and on-premise solutions), our customer support, concerns on stable, efficient and secure cloud operations and in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, our pricing, the prices of competing products or services, mergers and acquisitions affecting
our customer base, the effects of global economic conditions, or reductions in our customers spending levels.

If our customers do not renew their subscriptions, renew on less favorable terms, or fail to purchase additional modules or users, our revenue and
billings may decline, and we may not realize significantly improved operating results from our customer base. This could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

If we are unable to scale and enhance an effective partner ecosystem, increased revenue already included in our forecast might be
endangered.

An open and vibrant partner ecosystem is a fundamental pillar of our success and growth strategy. We have entered into partnership agreements
that drive co-innovation on our platforms, profitably expand all our routes-to-market to optimize market coverage, and provide high-quality
services capacity in all market segments. Partners play a key role in driving market adoption of our entire solutions portfolio, by co-innovating
on our platforms, embedding our technology, and reselling and/or implementing our software.
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If partners consider our products or services model less strategic and/or financially less attractive compared to our competition or if SAP fails to
establish a network of qualified partners that meet our quality requirements and the
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requirements of our customers, then, among other things, partners might not:

Develop a sufficient number of new solutions and content on our platforms

Provide high-quality products and services to our customers

Drive growth of references by creating customer use cases and demo systems

Sufficiently embed our solutions to profitably drive product adoption, especially with new innovations such as SAP HANA

Enable and train sufficient resources to promote sell and support to scale into targeted markets

Comply with applicable laws and regulations, resulting in delayed, disrupted, or terminated sales and services

Transform their business model in accordance with the transformation of SAP s business model in a timely manner

Renew their existing agreements with us or enter into new agreements on terms acceptable to us or at all
If one or more of these risks materialize, this may have an adverse effect on the demand for our products and services. As a result we may not be
able to scale our business to compete successfully with other software vendors, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business,
financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Human Capital Risks

If we do not effectively manage our geographically dispersed workforce, we may not be able to run our business efficiently and
successfully.

Our success is dependent on appropriate alignment of our internal and external workforce planning processes and our location strategy with our
general strategy. It is critical that we manage our internationally dispersed workforce effectively, taking short and long-term workforce and skill
requirements into consideration. This applies to the management of our internal as well as our external workforce. Changes in headcount and
infrastructure needs could result in a mismatch

between our expenses and revenue. Failure to manage our geographically dispersed workforce effectively could hinder our ability to run our
business efficiently and successfully and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.
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If we are unable to attract, develop, and retain leaders and employees with specialized knowledge and technology skills, or are unable to
achieve internal diversity and inclusion objectives, we might not be able to manage our operations effectively and successfully, or
develop successful new solutions and services.

Our highly qualified workforce is the foundation for our continued success. In certain regions and specific technology and solution areas, we
continue to set very high growth targets, specifically in countries and regions such as Africa, China, and Latin America. In the execution of

SAP s strategic priorities, we depend on highly skilled and specialized personnel and leaders, both male and female. Successful maintenance and
expansion of our highly skilled and specialized workforce in the area of cloud is a key success factor for our transition to become the leading
cloud company. The availability of such personnel is limited and as a result competition in our industry is intense and could expose us to claims
by other companies seeking to prevent their employees from working for a competitor. If we are unable to identify, attract, develop, motivate,
adequately compensate, and retain well-qualified and engaged personnel, or if existing highly skilled and specialized personnel leave SAP and
ready successors or adequate replacements are not available, we may not be able to manage our operations effectively, which could have an
adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows. Furthermore, we may not be able to develop, sell, or
implement successful new solutions and services as planned. This is particularly true as we continue to introduce new and innovative technology
offerings and expand our business in emerging markets. The lack of appropriate or inadequately executed benefit and compensation programs
could limit SAP s ability to attract or retain qualified employees and lead to financial losses. In addition, we might not be able to achieve our
internal gender diversity objectives to increase the number of women in management from 18% in 2010 to 25% by 2017.
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Organizational and Governance-Related Risks
Laws and regulatory requirements in Germany, the United States, and elsewhere have become much more stringent.

As a European company domiciled in Germany with securities listed in Germany and the United States, we are subject to European, German,
U.S., and other governance-related regulatory requirements. Changes in laws and regulations and related interpretations, including changes in
accounting standards and taxation requirements, and increased enforcement actions and penalties may alter the business environment in which
we operate. Regulatory requirements have become significantly more stringent in recent years, and some legislation, such as the anticorruption
legislation in Germany, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act, and other local laws prohibiting corrupt payments by
employees, vendors, distributors, or agents, is being applied more rigorously. Emerging markets are a significant focus of our international
growth strategy. The nature of these markets presents a number of inherent risks. A failure by us to comply with applicable laws and regulations,
or any related allegations of wrongdoing against us, whether merited or not, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position,
profit, cash flows and reputation.

Non-compliance with applicable data protection and privacy laws or failure to adequately meet the requirements of SAP s customers
with respect to our products and services could lead to civil liabilities and fines, as well as loss of customers and damage to SAP s
reputation.

As a global software and service provider, SAP is required to comply with the laws in the locations where SAP does business. SAP and its
subsidiaries are facing a surge of data protection and privacy laws and regulations around the world, with further changes to be expected in the
future, for example, by the European Data Protection Regulation proposed by the European Commission. These laws and regulations amend and
supplement existing requirements regarding the processing of personal data that SAP and SAP customers must fulfill and which we must
consequently address with our products and

services, including cloud delivery. Failure to comply with applicable laws or to adequately address privacy concerns of customers, even if
unfounded, could lead to investigations by supervisory authorities, civil liability, fines, (in the future, potentially calculated based on the
Company s annual revenue), loss of customers, damage to our reputation, and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position,
profit, and cash flows.

Failure to respond to meet customer, partner, or other stakeholder expectations or generally accepted standards on climate change,
energy constraints, and our social investment strategy could negatively impact SAP s business, results of operations, and reputation.

Energy and emissions management are an integral component of our holistic management of social, environmental, and economic risks and
opportunities. We have identified risks in these major areas:

Our solutions and green IT

Our own operations energy management and other environmental issues such as carbon management, water use, and waste
Because our customers, employees, and investors expect a reliable energy and carbon strategy, we have reemphasized our previously
communicated targets, especially our 2020 target for greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, our customers might no longer recognize SAP for
its environmental leadership and might buy other vendors products and services. Consequently, we could fail to achieve our revenue target. If we
do not meet stakeholder expectations in the areas identified, our rating in sustainable investment indices might decrease, which could have an
adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.
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Unethical behavior and non-compliance with our integrity standards due to intentional and fraudulent behavior of employees could
seriously harm our business, financial position, profit, and reputation.

SAP s leadership position in the global market is founded on the long-term and sustainable trust of
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our stakeholders worldwide. Our heritage is one of corporate transparency, open communication with financial markets, and adherence to
recognized standards of business integrity. The SAP Code of Business Conduct, adopted by the Executive Board on January 29, 2003, put into
words the already existing guidelines and expectations for the business behavior practiced at SAP.

However, we may encounter unethical behavior and non-compliance with our integrity standards due to intentional and fraudulent behavior of
individual employees, possibly in collusion with external third parties. In addition to intentional behavior, problems could also arise due to
negligence in the adherence to rules and regulations. Unethical behavior and misconduct attributable to SAP could not only lead to criminal
charges, fines, and claims by injured parties, but also to financial loss, and severe reputational damage. This could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Principal shareholders may be able to exert control over our future direction and operations.

If SAP SE s principal shareholders and the holdings of entities controlled by them vote in the same manner, this could delay, prevent or facilitate
a change in control of SAP or other significant changes to SAP SE or its capital structure. See Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related-Party
Transactions Major Shareholders for further information.

U.S. judgments may be difficult or impossible to enforce against us or our Board members.

Currently, except for Bill McDermott and Robert Enslin, all members of SAP SE s Executive Board and all members of the Supervisory Board
are non-residents of the United States. A substantial portion of the assets of SAP and our Board members are located outside the United States.
As a result, it may not be possible to effect service of process within the United States upon non-U.S. resident persons or SAP or to enforce
against non-U.S. resident persons judgments obtained in U.S. courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the
United States. In addition, awards of punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere might be unenforceable in Germany.

Communication and Information Risks
Our controls and efforts to prevent the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information might not always be effective.

Confidential or strictly confidential information and internal information that is related to topics such as our strategy, new technologies, mergers
and acquisitions, unpublished financial results, or personal data, could be prematurely or inadvertently disclosed and subsequently lead to
misperception in the market. This could require us to notify multiple regulatory agencies and, where appropriate, the data owner, which could
result in a loss of reputation for SAP. For example, leaked information during a merger or acquisition deal could cause the loss of our deal target,
or our share price could decline in case of prematurely published financial results. This could have an adverse effect on our market position and
lead to fines and penalties. In addition, this could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Financial Risks
Qur sales are subject to quarterly fluctuations and our sales forecasts may not be accurate.

Our revenue and operating results can vary and have varied in the past, sometimes substantially, from quarter to quarter. Our revenue in general,
and in particular our software revenue, is difficult to forecast for a number of reasons, including:

The relatively long sales cycles for our products
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The large size, complexity, and extended timing of individual license transactions

The introduction of new licensing and deployment models such as cloud subscription models

The timing of the introduction of new products or product enhancements by SAP or our competitors

Changes in customer budgets

Decreased software sales that could have an adverse effect on related maintenance and services revenue
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The timing, size, and length of customers services projects

Deployment models that require the recognition of revenue over an extended period of time

Adoption of and conversion to new business models leading to changed or delayed payment terms

Seasonality of a customer s technology purchases

Limited visibility during the ongoing integration of acquired companies into their ability to accurately predict their sales pipelines and the
likelihood that the projected pipeline will convert favorably into sales

Other general economic, social, environmental, and market conditions, such as the global economic crisis and the current difficulties for
countries with large debt
Since many of our customers make their IT purchasing decisions near the end of calendar quarters, and with a significant percentage of those
decisions being made during our fourth quarter, even a small delay in purchasing decisions for our on-premise software could have an adverse
effect on our revenue results for a given year. Our dependence on large transactions has decreased in recent years with a trend towards an
increased number of transactions coupled with a decrease in deal size. However, the loss or delay of one or a few large opportunities, which are
still characteristic of the large enterprise segment, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

External factors could impact our liquidity and increase the default risk associated with, and the valuation of, our financial assets.

Macroeconomic factors such as an economic downturn could have an adverse effect on our future liquidity. We use a globally centralized
financial management to control financial risk, such as liquidity, exchange rate, interest rate, counterparty, and equity price risks. The primary
aim is to maintain liquidity in the SAP Group at a level that is adequate to meet our obligations at any time. Our total Group liquidity is
supported by our strong operating cash flows, of which a large

part is recurring, and by credit facilities on which we can draw if necessary. However, adverse macroeconomic factors could increase the default
risk associated with the investment of our total Group liquidity including possible liquidity shortages limiting SAP s ability to repay financial
debt. This could have an impact on the value of our financial assets, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position,
profit, and cash flows.

Management s use of estimates could negatively affect our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

To comply with IFRS, management is required to make numerous judgments, estimates, and assumptions (among others for our major patent
disputes) that affect the reported financial figures. The facts and circumstances, as well as assumptions on which management bases these
estimates and judgments and management s judgment regarding the facts and circumstances, may change from time to time and this could result
in significant changes in the estimates and judgments and consequently in the reported financials. Such changes could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial position, profit and cash flows.

Current and future accounting pronouncements and other financial reporting standards, especially but not only concerning revenue
recognition, may negatively impact the financial results we present.
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We regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and review new pronouncements and drafts thereof that are
relevant to us. As a result of new standards, changes to existing standards (including the new IFRS 15 on revenue from contracts with customers
that we will likely need to adopt in 2017), and changes in their interpretation, we might be required to change our accounting policies,
particularly concerning revenue recognition, to alter our operational policies so that they reflect new or amended financial reporting standards, or
to restate our published financial statements. Such changes may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, and profit,
or cause an adverse deviation from our revenue and operating profit target.

20

Table of Contents 41



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I

Item 3

Because we conduct operations throughout the world, our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows may be affected by
currency and interest rate fluctuations.

Our SAP Group-wide management reporting and our external financial reporting are both in euros. Nevertheless, a significant portion of our
business is conducted in currencies other than the euro. Approximately 71% of our revenue in 2014 was attributable to operations outside the
euro area and was translated into euros. Consequently, period-over-period changes in the euro rates for particular currencies can significantly
affect our reported revenue and income. In general, appreciation of the euro relative to another currency has an adverse effect while depreciation
of the euro relative to another currency has a positive effect. Variable interest balance-sheet items are also subject to changes in interest rates.
Such changes may have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit and cash flows or cause an adverse deviation from our
revenue and operating profit target.

The cost of using derivative instruments to hedge share-based payments may exceed the benefits of hedging them.

We use derivative instruments to reduce the impact of our share-based payments on our income statement and to limit future expense associated
with those plans. We decide on a case-by-case basis whether and to what extent we should hedge this risk. The expense of hedging the
share-based payments could exceed the benefit achieved by hedging them. On the other hand, a decision to leave the plans materially unhedged
could prove disadvantageous. This could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit and cash flows or cause an adverse
deviation from our revenue and operating profit target.

The market price for our ADRs and ordinary shares may be volatile.

The market prices of our ADRs and ordinary shares have experienced and may continue to experience significant volatility in response to
various factors including, but not limited to:

unauthorized or inadvertent premature disclosure of confidential information, including information concerning pending acquisition
negotiations or acquisition rumors;
the announcement of new products or product enhancements by us or our competitors;

technological innovation by us or our competitors;

quarterly variations in our results or our competitors results of operations or results that fail to meet market expectations;

changes in revenue and revenue growth rates on a consolidated basis or for specific geographic areas, business units, products or product
categories;

changes in our externally communicated outlook;

changes in our capital structure, for example due to the potential future issuance of additional debt instruments;
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general market conditions specific to particular industries;

litigation to which we are a party;

general and country specific economic or political conditions (particularly wars, terrorist attacks, etc.);

proposed and completed acquisitions or other significant transactions by us or our competitors; and

general market conditions.
Many of these factors are beyond our control. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been
subject to shareholder lawsuits, including securities class action litigation. Any such lawsuits against us, with or without merit, could result in
substantial costs and the diversion of management s attention and resources, resulting in a decline in our results of operations and our stock price.

Project Risks

Implementation of SAP software often involves a significant commitment of resources by our customers and is subject to a number of
significant risks over which we often have no control.

A core element of our business is the successful implementation of software solutions to enable
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our customers to make their business a best-run business. The implementation of SAP software is led by SAP, by partners, by customers, or by a
combination thereof. Depending on various factors, such as the complexity of solutions, the customer s implementation, integration and
migration needs, or the resources required, SAP faces a number of different risks. For example, functional requirement changes, delays in
timeline, or deviation from recommended best practices may occur during the course of a project. These scenarios have a direct impact on the
project resource model and on securing adequate internal personnel or consultants in a timely manner and could therefore prove challenging.

As a result of these and other risks, SAP and/or some of our customers have incurred significant implementation costs in connection with the
purchase and installation of SAP software products. Some customers implementations have taken longer than planned. We cannot guarantee that
we can reduce or eliminate protracted installation or significant third-party consulting costs, that trained consultants will be readily available,

that our costs will not exceed the fees agreed in fixed-price contracts, or that customers will be satisfied with the implementation of our software
and solutions. Unsuccessful, lengthy, or costly customer implementation and integration projects could result in claims from customers, harm
SAP s reputation, and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Product and Technology Risks

Undetected security vulnerabilities shipped and deployed within our software products might cause damage to SAP and our customers,
and partners.

Customer systems or systems operated by SAP itself to provide services could potentially be compromised by vulnerabilities if they are
exploited by hackers. This could lead to theft, destruction, or abuse of data, or systems could be rendered unusable (for example, due to
distributed denial of service attacks). The detection of security vulnerabilities in our software, our customers systems, or SAP systems used in
the provision of services, especially in case of exploitation, could prevent us from meeting our contractual obligations and subsequently might
lead to customer claims and

reputational damage, which might have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Undetected defects in the introduction of new products and product enhancements could increase our costs, and reduce customer
demand.

To achieve market acceptance and high customer satisfaction, our new products and product enhancements often require long development and
testing periods. Development work and market introduction are subject to risks. For example, products might not completely meet our stringent
high-quality standards, including security standards, might not fulfill market needs or customer expectations, or might not comply with local
standards and requirements. Furthermore, this risk also exists with respect to acquired companies technologies and products where we might not
be able to manage these as quickly and successfully as expected. Therefore, market launches, entering new markets, or the introduction of new
innovations could be delayed or not be successful.

In addition, new products, including third-party technologies we have licensed and open source software components we use in those products,
could contain undetected defects or they might not be mature enough from the customer s point of view for business-critical solutions. The
detection and correction of any defects especially after shipment could be expensive and time-consuming and we might not be able to meet the
expectations of customers regarding time and quality in the defect resolution process. In some circumstances, we might not be in a position to
rectify such defects or entirely meet the expectations of customers, specifically as we are expanding our product portfolio into additional
markets. As a result, we might be faced with customer claims for cash refunds, damages, replacement software, or other concessions. The risk of
defects and their adverse consequences could increase as we seek to introduce a variety of new software products simultaneously at a higher
innovation rate. Significant undetected defects or delays in introducing new products or product enhancements could affect market acceptance of
SAP software products and could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

The use of existing SAP software products by customers in business-critical solutions and
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processes and the relative complexity and technical interdependency of our software products create a risk that customers or third parties may
pursue warranty, performance, or other claims against us for actual or alleged defects in SAP software products, in our provision of services, or
in our application hosting services. We have in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to warranty, performance, or other similar claims.

Although our contracts generally contain provisions designed to limit our exposure due to actual or alleged defects in SAP software products or
in our provision of services, these provisions may not cover every eventuality or be effective under the applicable law. Regardless of its merits,
any claim could entail substantial expense and require the devotion of significant time and attention by key management personnel. Publicity
surrounding such claims could affect our reputation and the demand for our software.

Changes in our rights to use software and technologies we license from third parties, which are an integral part of SAP s products, could
slow down time to market and influence our license pricing and therefore the competitiveness with other software vendors.

Furthermore, it could diminish our software s functional capabilities and therefore could jeopardize the stability of our solution portfolio
offering.

The numerous third-party technologies we have licensed and certain open source software components we use have become an integral part of
our product portfolio. We depend on those technologies for the functionality of our software or cloud services. Changes to, or the loss of,
third-party licenses as well as open source licenses being construed could significantly increase the cost of these licenses and significantly

reduce software functionality and/or usability of SAP s software products. As a result, we might incur additional development or license costs to
ensure the continued functionality of our products, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.
This risk increases with each acquisition of a company or a company s intellectual property assets that had been subject to third-party technology
licensing, open source software, and product standards less rigorous than our own.

If we are unable to keep up with rapid technological innovations, new business models, and changing market expectations, we might not
be able to compete effectively.

Our future success depends upon our ability to keep pace with technological and process innovations and new business models, as well as our
ability to develop new products and services, enhance and expand our existing products and services portfolio, and integrate products and
services we obtain through acquisitions. To be successful, we are required to shift our products and our go-to-market approach to a cloud-based
delivery model to satisfy changing customer demand.

We might not be successful in bringing new business models, solutions, solution enhancements, and/or services to market before our
competitors. We may also face increasing competition from open source software initiatives in which competitors may provide software and
intellectual property free and/or under terms and conditions unfavorable for SAP. In addition, we might not be able to generate enough revenue
to offset the significant research and development costs we incur to deliver technological innovations or to offset the required infrastructure costs
to deliver our solutions and services as part of our new business models. Moreover, we might not anticipate and develop technological
improvements or succeed in adapting our products, services, processes, and business models to technological change, changing regulatory
requirements, emerging industry standards, and changing requirements of our customers and partners. Finally, we might not succeed in
producing high-quality products, enhancements, and releases in a timely and cost-effective manner to compete with products, solutions, and
other technologies offered by our competitors, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash
flows.

Our technology and/or product strategy may not be successful or our customers and partners might not adopt our technology platforms
and other innovations accordingly.

We offer customers a broad portfolio of products, solutions, and services. Our technology strategy
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centers on SAP HANA as a real-time in-memory computing platform for analytics and applications. The success of our technology strategy
depends on the convergence of SAP HANA with our mobile, cloud, and SAP NetWeaver platform. It also depends on the delivery of SAP
solutions based on the SAP HANA platform as well as the success of our new framework to meet changing customer expectations regarding
end-to-end user experience. Our technology strategy also relies on our ability to maintain a dynamic network of partner organizations developing
their own business applications using our technology platforms.

We might not be successful in integrating our platforms, enabling the complete product portfolio, harmonizing our user interface design and
technology, integrating acquired technologies, or bringing new solutions based on the SAP HANA platform to the market as fast as expected. In
addition, we may not be able to compete effectively in the area of managed cloud services. As a result, our partner organizations and customers
might not adopt the SAP HANA platform or our managed cloud services quickly enough or they might consider competitive solutions. This
could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Our cloud offerings might be subject to a security attack, become unavailable, or fail to perform properly.

The software used in our cloud portfolio is inherently complex and any defects in product functionality, system stability, or data center
operations that cause interruptions in the availability of our application portfolio could result in the following:

Lost or delayed market acceptance and sales

Breach of warranty or other contract breach or misrepresentation claims

Sales credits or refunds to our customers or partners

Loss of customers and/or partners

Diversion of development and customer service resources

Breach of data protection and privacy laws and regulations

Customers considering competitive cloud offerings
The costs incurred in correcting any defects or errors might be substantial and could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial
position, profit, and cash flows. Because of the large amount of data that we collect and manage, it is possible that hardware failures, defects in
our software, or errors in our systems could result in data loss or corruption, or cause the information that we collect to be incomplete or contain
inaccuracies that our customers regard as significant. Furthermore, the availability of our cloud applications could be interrupted by a number of
factors, including customers inability to access the Internet, the failure of our network or software systems due to human or other error, security
breaches, or variability in user traffic for our cloud applications. Additionally, any loss of the right to use hardware purchased or leased from
third parties could result in delays in our ability to provide our cloud applications until equivalent technology is either developed by us or, if
available, identified. Furthermore, our cooperation with partners in the area of cloud includes the co-location of data centers that might expose
SAP to additional risks in the area of security and data protection, as well as the potential for breached service-level agreements by partners.
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We have administrative, technical, and physical security measures in place as well as contracts that require third-party data centers to have
appropriate security and data protection and privacy measures in place. In this context, customers might demand to only use specific and/or local
data centers. However, if these security measures are breached as a result of third-party action, employee error or malfeasance, or otherwise, and
if, as a result, someone obtains unauthorized access to our customers data, which may include personally identifiable information regarding
users, our reputation could be damaged, our business may suffer, local data protection and privacy laws or regulations might be breached, and
we could incur significant liability.

In addition, our insurance coverage might not cover claims against us for loss or security breach of data or other indirect or consequential
damages. Moreover, defending a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and time-consuming. In addition to potential liability, if we
experience interruptions in the availability of our cloud applications, our reputation could be harmed and we could lose customers.
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Operational Risks

Third parties have claimed, and might claim in the future, that we infringe their intellectual property rights, which could lead to
damages being awarded against us and limit our ability to use certain technologies in the future.

We believe that we will increasingly be subject to intellectual property infringement claims as the number of products in our industry segment
grows, as we acquire companies with increased use of third-party code including open source code, as we expand into new industry segments
with our products, resulting in greater overlap in the functional scope of products, and as non-practicing entities that do not design, manufacture,
or distribute products increasingly assert intellectual property infringement claims.

Any claims, with or without merit, and negotiations or litigation relating to such claims, could preclude us from utilizing certain technologies in
our products, be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, and require us to pay damages to third parties, stop selling or reconfigure our
products and, under certain circumstances, pay fines and indemnify our customers, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
profile, profit, cash flows, and reputation. They could also require us to enter into royalty and licensing arrangements on terms that are not
favorable to us, cause product shipment delays, subject our products to injunctions, require a complete or partial redesign of products, result in
delays to our customers investment decisions, and damage our reputation.

Software includes many components or modules that provide different features and perform different functions. Some of these features or
functions may be subject to third-party intellectual property rights. The rights of another party could encompass technical aspects that are similar
to one or more technologies in one or more of our products. Intellectual property rights of third parties could preclude us from using certain
technologies in our products or require us to enter into royalty and licensing arrangements on unfavorable or expensive terms.

The software industry is making increasing use of open source software in its development work on solutions. We also integrate certain open
source software components from third parties into our software. Open source licenses may require that

the software code in those components or the software into which they are integrated be freely accessible under open source terms. Third-party
claims may require us to make freely accessible under open source terms one of our products or non-SAP software upon which we depend.

Claims and lawsuits against us could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, cash flows, and reputation.

Claims and lawsuits are brought against us, including claims and lawsuits involving businesses we have acquired. Adverse outcomes to some or
all of the claims and lawsuits pending against us might result in the award of significant damages or injunctive relief against us that could hinder
our ability to conduct our business and could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

The outcome of litigation and other claims or lawsuits is intrinsically uncertain. Management s view of the litigation may also change in the
future. Actual outcomes of litigation and other claims or lawsuits could differ from the assessments made by management in prior periods which
are the basis for the lawsuit-related provisions we set up according to the IFRS.

We might not acquire and integrate companies effectively or successfully and our strategic alliances might not be successful.

To expand our business, we have in the past made acquisitions of businesses, products, and technologies. Such acquisitions have increased in
size and in strategic importance for SAP, and we expect to continue to make acquisitions in the future. Management s negotiation of potential
acquisitions and alliances and integration of acquired businesses, products, or technologies demands time, focus, and resources of management
and of the workforce. Acquisitions of companies, businesses, and technology expose us to unpredictable operational difficulties, expenditures,
and increased risks. These risks include, among others:
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The selection of the wrong integration model for the acquired company

The failure to integrate the acquired business and its different business and licensing models
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Failure to successfully integrate acquired technologies or solutions into SAP s solution portfolio and strategy in a timely and profitable
manner

The failure to integrate the acquired company s operations across SAP s different cultures, languages, and local protocols, all within the
constraints of applicable local laws

The failure to meet the needs of the acquired company s customers and partners in the combined company

The diversion of management s time and attention from daily operations

The loss of key personnel of the acquired business

Material unknown liabilities and contingent liabilities of acquired companies, including legal, tax, accounting intellectual property, or other
significant liabilities that may not be detected through the due diligence process

Legal and regulatory constraints (such as contract obligations, privacy frameworks and agreements)

Difficulties in implementing, restoring, or maintaining internal controls, procedures, and policies

Practices or policies of the acquired company that may be incompatible with our compliance requirements

An adverse effect on relationships with existing customers, partners, or third-party providers of technology or products

Difficulties in integrating the acquired company s accounting, HR, and other administrative systems and coordination of the acquired
company s research and development (R&D), sales, and marketing functions

Debt incurrence or significant cash expenditures

Constraints in enforcing acquired companies compliance with existing SAP security standards in a timely manner

Difficulties in customer implementation projects combining technologies and solutions from both SAP and the acquired company
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In addition, acquired businesses might not perform as anticipated, resulting in charges for the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
on our statements of financial position. Such charges may have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows. We
have entered into, and expect to continue to enter into, alliance arrangements for a variety of purposes, including the development of new
products and services. There can be no assurance that any such products or services will be successfully developed or that we will not incur
significant unanticipated liabilities in connection with such arrangements. We may not be successful in overcoming these risks and we may
therefore not benefit as anticipated from acquisitions or alliances.

We may not be able to obtain adequate title to, or licenses in, or to enforce, intellectual property.

Protecting and defending our intellectual property is crucial to our success. We use a variety of means to identify and monitor potential risks and
to protect our intellectual property. These include applying for patents, registering trademarks and other marks and copyrights, implementing
measures to stop copyright and trademark infringement, entering into licensing, confidentiality, and non-disclosure agreements, and deploying
protection technology. Despite our efforts, we might not be able to prevent third parties from obtaining, using, or selling without authorization
what we regard as our proprietary technology and information. All of these measures afford only limited protection, and our proprietary rights
could be challenged, invalidated, held unenforceable, or otherwise affected. Some intellectual property might be vulnerable to disclosure or
misappropriation by employees, partners, or other third parties. Third parties might independently develop technologies that are substantially
equivalent or superior to our technology. Finally, third parties might reverse-engineer or otherwise obtain and use technology and information
that we regard as proprietary. Accordingly, we might not be able to protect our proprietary rights against unauthorized third-party copying or
utilization, which could have an adverse effect on our competitive and financial positions, and result in reduced sales. Any legal action we bring
to enforce our proprietary rights could also involve enforcement against a partner or other third party, which may have an adverse effect on our
ability, and our customers ability, to
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use that partner s or other third parties products. In addition, the laws and courts of certain countries may not offer effective means to enforce our
intellectual property rights. This could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP s business strategy focuses on certain business models that are highly dependent on a working cyberspace. A cybersecurity breach
could have an adverse effect on our customers, our reputation, and our business.

The key cybersecurity risks currently applicable to SAP include state-driven economic espionage as well as competitor-driven industrial
espionage, and criminal activities including, but not limited to, cyber-attacks and mega breaches against on-premise software, hosted, and cloud
services. This might result in, for example, leakage of confidential information and intellectual property, defective products, production
downtimes, supply shortages, and compromised data (including personal data). A failure of our cybersecurity measures could expose our

business operations and service delivery to the described risks, for example, virtual attack, disruption, damage, and/or unauthorized access.
Additionally, we could be subject to recovery costs, for example, as well as significant contractual and legal claims by customers, partners,
authorities, and third-party service providers for damages against us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial
position, profit, and cash flows.

We may not be able to protect our critical information and assets or to safeguard our business operations against disruption.

SAP is highly dependent on the exchange of a wide range of information across our global operations and on the availability of our
infrastructure. With regard to our physical environment, we face several key security risks such as industrial and/or economic espionage, serious
and organized crime, and other illegal activities, as well as violent extremism and terrorism. We might be endangered by threats including, but
not limited to, social engineering, misuse, or theft of information or assets, or damage to assets by trespassers in our facilities or by people who
have gained unauthorized physical access to our facilities, systems, or information. These could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
profile, profit, and cash flows.

Our insurance coverage might not be sufficient and uninsured losses may occur.

We maintain insurance coverage to protect us against a broad range of risks, at levels we believe are appropriate and consistent with current
industry practice. Our objective is to exclude or minimize risk of financial loss at reasonable cost. However, we may incur losses that may be
beyond the limits, or outside the scope, of coverage of our insurance and that may limit or prevent indemnification under our insurance policies.
In addition, we might not be able to maintain adequate insurance coverage on commercially reasonable terms in the future. Further, certain
categories of risks are currently not insurable at reasonable cost, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit,
and cash flows. Finally, there can be no assurance of the financial ability of the insurance companies to meet their claim payment obligations.

We could incur significant losses in connection with venture capital investments.

Through Sapphire Ventures (formerly SAP Ventures), our consolidated venture investment funds, we plan to continue investing in new and
promising technology businesses. Many such investments initially generate net losses and require additional expenditures from their investors.
Changes to planned business operations have, in the past affected, and may in the future affect, the performance of companies in which Sapphire
Ventures holds investments, and that could have an adverse effect on the value of our investments in Sapphire Ventures, which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows. Furthermore, tax deductibility of capital losses and impairment in
connection with equity securities are often restricted and could therefore have an adverse effect on our effective tax rate.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ABOUT SAP

Our legal corporate name is SAP SE. SAP SE is translated in English to SAP European Company (Societas Europaea, or SE ). SAP SE changed
its legal form from a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) to a European Company (SE), and its name from SAP AG to SAP SE , with
effect from July 7, 2014. Where the context requires in the discussion below, SAP SE also
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refers to our predecessor or previous legal forms and names, as the case may be, i.e. Systemanalyse und Programmentwicklung GbR

(1972-1976), SAP Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der Datenverarbeitung GmbH (1976-1988), SAP Aktiengesellschaft Systeme,
Anwendungen, Produkte in der Datenverarbeitung (1988 2005) and SAP AG (2005 2014). Our principal executive offices, headquarters and
registered office are located at Dietmar-Hopp-Allee 16, 69190 Walldorf, Germany. Our telephone number is +49-6227-7-47474.

As part of our activities to reduce the number of legal entities in the SAP group, in 2014 we integrated certain subsidiaries into the following
significant SAP subsidiaries: SAP (Schweiz) AG, SAP (UK) Limited, SAP France, SAP America, Inc., SuccessFactors, Inc., SAP Brasil Ltda,
and SAP Australia Pty Ltd.

For a (i) description of our principal capital expenditures and divestitures and the amount invested (including interests in other companies) since
January 1, 2012 until the date of this report and (ii) information concerning our principal capital expenditures and divestitures currently in
progress, including the distribution of these investments geographically and the method of financing, see Item 4. Information About SAP
Description of Property —Capital Expenditures.

OVERVIEW OF THE SAP GROUP

Founded in 1972, SAP today is the world s leader in application and analytics software for enterprises in terms of market share and the market
leader in mobile enterprise management. Further, SAP is the enterprise cloud company with the greatest number of users and the fastest-growing
major database company. Our continued growth over more than four decades is attributable to relentless innovation, a diverse portfolio, and our
ability to anticipate ever-

changing customer requirements. With more than 282,000 customers in over 180 countries, the SAP Group includes subsidiaries in all major
countries and employs more than 74,400 people.

Our company s culture puts our customers success at the center of everything we do. With Run Simple as our operating principle, we focus on
helping our customers master complexity and run their businesses better, which is the most intractable challenge facing business today.

SAP is headquartered in Walldorf, Germany; our legal corporate name is SAP SE. The corporation is listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange as
well as several regional stock exchanges in Germany and the New York Stock Exchange in the United States. At the end of 2014, our market
capitalization was 71.6 billion. SAP is a member of Germany s DAX, the Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50, and the Dow Jones Sustainability
index.

We derive our revenue from fees charged to our customers for the use of our cloud solutions and for licensing of on-premise software products
and solutions. Additional sources of revenue are support, professional services, development, training, and other services.

As of December 31, 2014, SAP SE controlled directly or indirectly a worldwide network of 287 subsidiaries in more than 180 countries to
distribute our products, solutions, and services. Distributorship agreements are in place with independent resellers in many countries. For more
information, see the Strategy and Business Model section.

Our subsidiaries perform tasks such as sales and marketing, consulting, research and development, cloud delivery, customer support, training, or
administration. For a complete list of subsidiaries, associates, and other equity investments, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements section, Note (35).
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The following table illustrates our most significant subsidiaries based on total revenues as of December 31, 2014:

Ownership Country of

Name of Subsidiary % Incorporation Function

Germany

SAP Deutschland SE & Co. KG, Walldorf 100 Germany Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

Rest of EMEA

SAP (UK) Limited, Feltham 100 Great Britain Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,

Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

SAP (Schweiz) AG, Biel 100 Switzerland Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

SAP France, Paris 100 France Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

S.A.P. Nederland B.V., 100 The Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Netherlands Customer Support, Research and Development

s-Hertogenbosch and Administration

United States

SAP America, Inc., Newtown Square 100 USA Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,

Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

SAP Industries, Inc., Newtown Square 100 USA Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

SuccessFactors, Inc., San Mateo 100 USA Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

Ariba, Inc., Sunnyvale 100 USA Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

Concur Technologies, Inc., Bellevue! 100 USA Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Research and
Development and Administration

Rest of Americas

SAP Brasil Ltda, Sao Paulo 100 Brazil Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

Japan

SAP JAPAN Co., Ltd., Tokyo 100 Japan Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,
Customer Support, Research and Development
and Administration

Rest of APJ

SAP Australia Pty Limited, Sydney 100 Australia Sales & Marketing, Consulting, Training,

Customer Support, Research and Development
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and Administration

(I The inclusion of Concur Technologies, Inc. is based on annual revenues including revenues predating its acquisition by SAP on December 4, 2014.

29

Table of Contents

58



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I

Item 4

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

Our Vision and Mission

Our vision is to help the world run better and improve people s lives. Our mission is to help our customers run at their best. To fulfill our mission,
we apply our Run Simple operating principle to help customers run their businesses simpler and master complexity, which is the most intractable
challenge businesses face today. We do this by delivering technology innovations that we believe address the challenges of today and tomorrow
without disrupting our customers business operations.

For more than 40 years, we have managed highly advanced, mission-critical business processes that enable entire industries. We continue to
deliver sophisticated solutions for 25 industries and 12 lines of business in a simple manner. It is our challenge to do the most sophisticated
things for our customers, yet in simple ways.

Our Goals for Sustained Business Success

We have strong ambitions for sustainable business success, both for our company and for our customers. We believe the most important
indicators to measure this success comprise both financial and non-financial indicators: growth, profitability, customer loyalty, and employee
engagement.

Growth: SAP uses various revenue metrics to measure growth. We expect full-year 2015 non-IFRS cloud subscriptions and support revenue to
be in a range of 1.95 billion to 2.05 billion at constant currencies (2014: 1.10 billion). Further, we expect full-year 2015 non-IFRS cloud and
software revenue to increase by 8% to 10% at constant currencies (2014: 14.33 billion). Looking beyond 2015, we have updated our 2017
ambition. By 2017, SAP s rapidly growing cloud subscriptions and support revenue is expected to be close to software license revenue and is
expected to exceed software license revenue in 2018. In 2017, we expect non-IFRS cloud subscriptions and support revenue to reach a range of

3.5 billion to 3.6 billion in 2017. Non-IFRS total revenue is expected to reach 21 billion to 22 billion in 2017. Further, we have also introduced
high-level 2020 ambitions with 2020 non-IFRS cloud subscriptions and support revenue expected to reach 7.5 billion to

8.0 billion and total revenue is expected to be in a range of 26 billion to 28 billion.

Profitability: SAP expects full-year 2015 non-IFRS operating profit to be in a range of 5.6 billion to 5.9 billion at constant currencies (2014:
5.64 billion). We expect non-IFRS operating profit in a range of 6.3 billion to 7.0 billion in 2017 and in a range of 8 billion to 9 billion in 2020.

Customer loyalty:  SAP has used Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS) as a key performance indicator to measure customer loyalty since 2012.
As we gather experience with the metric and as our business evolves, we expanded our customer base when conducting the 2014 assessment to
better reflect our business completely. In addition to our on-premise customers, in 2014, for the first time we included Ariba, SuccessFactors,
and Sybase customers in the survey. Therefore, the 2014 Customer NPS score is not fully comparable to the prior year s score.

In 2014, we achieved a global Customer NPS of 19.1% (2013: 12.1%). This very positive score exceeded our 2014 target of 16%. We aim to
achieve a Customer NPS score of 24% in 2015.

Employee engagement: We use the employee engagement index to measure motivation and loyalty of our employees, how proud they are of
our company, and how strongly they identify with SAP. We saw a solid increase in our score in 2014 (2014: 79%) compared to 2013 (2013:
77%) and remain committed to achieving a score of 82% in 2015.

These four goals affirm our commitment to innovation and sustainability, and help us deliver on our vision and mission.
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In addition to primary key performance indicators (KPIs), which directly measure our performance on our four goals, we manage a number of
secondary performance indicators, which influence the primary KPIs in a variety of ways. Our integrated report seeks to clarify some of those
relationships, for example, the link between our energy consumption and our profitability.

Our main goals are presented with more detail throughout the report.

For more information on our strategic goals, see the Performance Management System; Expected Developments; Customers; and Employees
sections.
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Our Strategy: THE Cloud Company powered by SAP HANA

As described above, complexity has become a significant challenge to business. With our history and focus on software innovation, we believe
SAP is uniquely positioned to tackle the challenge of complexity for our customers by enabling them to Run Simple. We are realizing the
potential of Run Simple through our strategy to become THE cloud company powered by SAP HANA. Together, SAP HANA and SAP Cloud
powered by SAP HANA equal Run Simple.

SAP HANA simplifies IT landscapes, technology, and business models. By moving most of our applications and analytics to the SAP HANA
platform, we are simplifying the solutions we can offer our customers. We further simplify how customers consume our solutions by bringing
them onto our cloud SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA. The cloud can offer a better user experience while radically simplifying business
processes.

We will focus on three key initiatives to deliver on our commitment to Run Simple:

Simplify consumption: We continue to streamline and simplify consumption of our portfolio of products. Our focus will remain on solutions
specific to 25 industries and 12 lines of business. We will support our customers with a mix of public cloud, managed cloud, and on-premise
capabilities through a world-class platform based on SAP HANA.

Simplify business processes: At the foundation of our innovation and strategy is SAP HANA. With SAP HANA as the common platform, we
help our customers dramatically accelerate the speed of their business by radically simplifying their IT stack and enabling smarter and faster
business processes.

Simplify user experience: With SAP Fiori we provide a holistic and consistent consumer grade user experience based on modern design
principles and across lines of business, tasks, and devices.

We see enormous potential to increase our share of our customers overall IT spend. Through simplification, customers can dramatically reduce
their expenditures on hardware and services, shift the savings to innovation, transform their businesses, and create positive societal impact.

We aim to better innovate and grow by:

Building simple, yet sophisticated applications by lines of business and industries that deliver superior customer experience, coverage of
end-to-end processes, and insights

Continuing to invest in SAP HANA as an industry-leading platform for innovation and promoting SAP HANA Cloud Platform as a
world-class platform as a service (PaaS)

Continuing to be the world s leading business network, connecting businesses, devices, and people to drive unparalleled collaboration and
productivity
For example, by enhancing their efficiency, we help customers cope with resource scarcity and reduce their energy usage and emissions. By
partnering with our banking customers, we help them bring banking services to the unbanked, thereby creating opportunity for people seeking to
enter the modern economy. Through software focused on healthcare, education, and public services, we help create a positive social impact by
enhancing people s quality of life. In all of these ways, our solutions are advancing our vision to help the world run better and improve people s
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Our Business Model

Our vision and mission also unlock our ability to create positive economic, environmental, and social impact. As we help our customers tackle
complexity and run at their best, they contribute to the world s economies, create jobs, and unleash the potential of their employees. As we help
them become more efficient, they can mitigate their environmental footprint. And as we help them run their businesses simpler, they free up
space for innovation, creating opportunities for people and communities.

To realize our vision, SAP provides business solutions to customers throughout the world based on our deep expertise in business processes
across industries. Through our customers ~ which represent 98% of the top 100 most valued brands in the world, according to the annual ranking
from Interbrand we can increase our ability to create value.

Playing this role for our customers requires us to deploy several key types of capital. First, we rely on financial capital provided by our investors.
But
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what truly enables our success is the intellectual and social capital of our employees. They are the gateway to our knowledge, expertise, and
business relationships. For this reason, engaged, highly skilled, and agile employees are central to our business model and success.

Our direct sales organizations drive most business development. Sales go-to-market strategies are established at the global level, and then
adapted and executed by regional subsidiaries. Our customer-facing employees, in close collaboration with sales support and marketing, drive
demand, build pipeline, and enhance relationships with customers within our target industries. Our marketing efforts cover large enterprises as
well as small and midsize enterprises. We believe our broad portfolio of solutions and services enables us to meet the needs of customers of all
sizes and across industries. We will amplify our efforts in the digital channel through additional e-commerce and digitally native offerings that
further enable a low-touch or no-touch customer journey.

Our extensive ecosystem provides scalability to meet the demand for SAP innovation and provide customers with a wide selection of third-party
competencies. We have developed an independent sales and support force through independent value-added resellers. We have also established
partnerships with hardware and software suppliers, systems integrators, and third-party consultants. For more information, see the Partner
Ecosystem section.

Historically, our sales model was focused on charging a one-time, upfront fee for a perpetual license to our software that was typically installed
at the customer site. In addition, the customer usually concluded a maintenance contract that covered support and software updates. As we have
seen customer preferences evolve, we are increasingly delivering our solutions in the cloud, which we believe is a simple and efficient software
consumption model. Our cloud solutions are offered through a subscription-based software-as-a-service (SaaS) model. Depending on the
solutions offered, the customer pays either usage-based or periodic fees to use our software. This software is installed at an SAP or an SAP
partner location, and the customer accesses the software over the Internet.

To help companies invest in SAP solutions and the associated services and hardware, the SAP Financing service offers customers payment plans
optimized for maximum economic benefit. It can help preserve liquidity, provide an alternative to

credit from customers existing banking relationships, and balance their budgetary priorities while giving them the flexibility to choose the best
possible solution.

By executing on our strategy, SAP contributes to the creation of holistic, long-term value for society in a number of ways. SAP s greatest
strength in making environmental impact comes through the solutions we deliver. For example, our software enables our customers to have more
efficient and sustainable supply chains or provide greater transparency of energy consumption and emissions.

We also apply our expertise in business processes across industries to direct our innovations to the world s greatest challenges, such as the social
and environmental strains posed by a rapidly expanding global middle class. Our goal is to create long-term value by providing solutions that not
only address the current challenges faced by our customers, but also those of the future. In this way, we see our role moving beyond the creation
of new and efficient solutions: We want to fundamentally help change how people use software, conduct business, and live their lives. This
objective underscores how SAP can create its greatest impact through the use of our solutions by more than 282,000 customers worldwide.

At SAP and within our ecosystem, we support job creation and economic prosperity through demand for highly qualified workers to develop,
sell, implement, and enhance our software for our customers. Our solutions also enable customers to provide greater learning and talent
development opportunities for their employees. In addition, SAP solutions, such as those for manufacturing, are designed not only to ensure
health and safety during the production process, but also to increase the quality of the resulting consumer products, which impact millions of
people throughout the world.

SEASONALITY
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Our business has historically experienced the highest revenue in the fourth quarter of each year, due primarily to year-end capital purchases by
customers. Such factors have resulted in 2014, 2013, and 2012 first quarter revenue being lower than revenue in the prior year s fourth quarter.

We believe that this trend will continue in the future and that our total revenue will continue to peak in the fourth quarter of each year and
decline from that level in the first quarter of the following year.
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Unlike our on-premise software revenues, our on-premise support revenues and cloud subscription and support revenues are less subject to
seasonality.

PRODUCTS, RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT, AND SERVICES

Steering Our Customers Through Unprecedented Change

The world is operating in a time of accelerated change that has created new complexity, challenges, and opportunities for both our customers and
SAP. Digitalization represents more than a trend but a paradigm shift, one that is shaping whole industries, business models, and sources of
competitive advantage.

Software is at the heart of this transformation for many organizations, it is the new differentiator. We recognize that enterprise software today
must do far more than run business processes. It is an enabler for navigating complexity and unlocking innovation. Throughout our history, we
have helped our customers manage other major paradigm shifts impacting their business, from the massive expansion of the Internet to
globalization. Today, we are supporting their transition to a cloud-based world, as increasingly complex business problems demand simple
solutions.

We help customers Run Simple by innovating with the SAP HANA platform as our foundation. This strategy combines ease of use and
flexibility with sizeable computing power. Through the capabilities of SAP HANA, we can now enable a real-time enterprise; we can leverage
Big Data to achieve deeper insight; and we can empower users through the ease of mobile apps, so that people can access what they need
securely and flexibly.

These developments similar to packaged software in the 1980s and client/server architecture in the 1990s  signal a new wave of innovation at
SAP. Wherever they are on their journey, we are helping our customers reinvent how they do business while making the transition seamless and
providing a holistic and consistent user experience. As we aim to become THE cloud company powered by SAP HANA, we are going far
beyond incremental change to achieve radical

simplification enabling our customers to stay ahead of trends, make better decisions faster, and propel innovation.

SAP HANA

Nothing signifies the changes we are making at SAP  and for our customers more than SAP HANA. The platform holds the power to simplify
both the user experience and the overall IT landscape, creating a smaller data footprint, increased system throughput, and easier data processing
and operation. For this reason, we have evolved SAP HANA from a database to a full business platform that will act as the basis for our products
going forward.

The SAP HANA platform combines database, data processing, and application platform capabilities in-memory. By providing advanced
capabilities such as predictive text analytics, spatial processing, and data virtualization on the same architecture, it further simplifies application
development and processing across Big Data sources and structures.

To take our capabilities to the next level, we built the open SAP HANA Cloud Platform, which is the embodiment of our SAP Cloud powered
by SAP HANA strategy. The cloud platform enables ease and flexibility in building, extending, and integrating business applications available
to all SAP partners, customers, and third-party developers.

Realizing that one size does not fit all, we are providing a bridge for our customers in the transition to the cloud. We also offer to manage
mission-critical software such as SAP Business Suite and SAP Business Warehouse as well as custom SAP HANA applications in our cloud
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data centers.

Our overarching goal is to create the broadest integration offering in the industry where customers can connect SAP and third-party software
across heterogeneous environments by leveraging application lifecycle management to reduce IT complexity. Our customers can enhance the
power of an integrated landscape with a refreshing user experience across multiple devices and interfaces. At the same time, all core applications
can be built and run in the cloud or on premise, giving developers a powerful tool to build applications with flexibility and efficiency.
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As the market leader in enterprise application software, we offer end-to-end solutions specific to

25 industries grouped in six industry sectors and 12 lines of business, localized by country and for companies of any size.

Industries
Industry Sector
Consumer

Discrete manufacturing

Energy and natural resources

Financial services

Public services

Table of Contents

Industry Portfolio

SAP for Consumer Products
SAP for Life Sciences

SAP for Retail

SAP for Wholesale Distribution

SAP for Aerospace & Defense
SAP for Automotive
SAP for High Tech

SAP for Industrial Machinery & Components

SAP for Chemicals
SAP for Mill Products
SAP for Mining

SAP for Oil & Gas
SAP for Utilities

SAP for Banking
SAP for Insurance

SAP for Defense & Security
SAP for Healthcare
SAP for Higher Education & Research

Lines of Business
Asset Management

Commerce

Finance

Human Resources
Manufacturing

Marketing
R&D/Engineering

Sales

Service

Sourcing and Procurement
Supply Chain

Sustainability
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SAP for Public Sector

Services SAP for Engineering, Construction & Operations
SAP for Media
SAP for Professional Services
SAP for Sports & Entertainment
SAP for Telecommunications
SAP for Travel & Transportation

Today, we are delivering solutions that simplify how applications are built, consumed, and deployed. Our SAP Business Suite powered by SAP
HANA software optimizes business-critical processes for companies from large enterprises to small businesses. Building on SAP HANA, we are

providing an innovative suite of business applications unifying analytics and transactions into a single in-memory platform, thereby helping
customers to dramatically simplify their IT landscape.

34

Table of Contents 68



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I

Item 4

At the same time, we are building functional innovations that serve each line of business and industry to address the specific and evolving needs
of our customers, for example:

Human capital management: On-premise solutions from SAP, as well as cloud solutions for human resources from SuccessFactors, an SAP
company, help HR organizations transform business strategies into measurable business outcomes by simplifying HR processes and helping
increase employee engagement. We combine global and industry expertise with a unique combination of key HR enablers: a modern user
experience, talent and core HR applications, embedded content, and analytics.

Customer engagement and commerce:  Solutions from SAP and software from hybris, an SAP company, serving the commerce, marketing,
sales, and service lines of business, enable business-to-business (B2B) and business-to-consumer (B2C) companies everywhere to provide
real-time, consistent, contextual, and relevant experiences to their customers regardless of channel or device. SAP solutions for customer
engagement and commerce are a direct response to the fact that the traditional focus of customer relationship management (mostly sales force
automation) is no longer enough to satisfy the demands of a customer-driven market.

Finance: In 2014, we launched the SAP Simple Finance solution to address the critical need for flexibility in the most complex finance
processes and IT landscapes. Created through close collaboration with our customers, SAP Simple Finance is a comprehensive solution of
finance applications that decreases runtime for financial analysis, delivers instant insight, and is easy to use and consume. Continuing to leverage
SAP HANA as a driver of simplicity, we launched SAP S/4AHANA (SAP Business Suite 4 SAP HANA) in early 2015, a next-generation and
innovative business suite that will redefine business processes and drive business value for our customers.

Freedom, Flexibility, and Elegant Design

As our customers adapt to shifting business conditions, we also provide them with the freedom and flexibility of our mobile solutions. These
solutions enable companies to better serve customers and provide employees with secure

access to important tools and data anywhere, anytime using their mobile devices. Mobile solutions from SAP allow our customers to:

Innovate rapidly to deliver user-centric capabilities for employees, consumers, and partners

Lower their total cost of ownership by streamlining operations and processes

Protect themselves against security risks and challenges at the device, app, and content levels
Regardless of how our customers consume our software, we are building applications using the SAP Fiori user experience (UX), which delivers
a personalized, responsive, and simple UX. Applying modern and consistent design principles, SAP Fiori is the new face of SAP software. We
also offer a portfolio of UX services, including design, rapid deployment, and custom development, to enhance customer engagement.

Business Network

The cloud has profoundly changed the way people interact, and this impact will only grow as enterprises connect and collaborate in new ways
with their global networks of customers and partners. We believe these new networks are transforming how companies do business, and we are
helping to lead this wave of innovation.
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With our sourcing, procurement, and travel and expense management solutions from SAP; Ariba, an SAP company; Fieldglass; and Concur
Technologies, we now run the world s largest business network, connecting more than 1.7 million companies. SAP internal analysis shows that
businesses conduct more than US$700 billion in commerce on the network annually, and it holds the potential to alter the B2B landscape.
Procurement leaders can achieve cost savings, integrate sourcing and procurement operations, improve supplier collaboration, and realize
purchasing compliance. Combining our innovations and core applications, the network is helping companies interact outside of silos and gain far
greater visibility into different parts of their operations.

By digitizing business transactions and facilitating the sharing of information across global value
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chains, we are providing customers with a greater ability to connect with others and take action. As a result, we are facilitating far more than
simple transactions but helping companies tap into information and insights, incorporate them into their business processes, and make better
real-time decisions. Customers can easily identify and connect with high-quality suppliers, collaboratively enhance supplier performance,
transact seamlessly with intelligent rules, and drive additional savings through dynamic discounting.

Our vision for the network extends to managing all of a company s business expenditures. Therefore, we have moved from a procurement
network to a business network to a network of networks that includes all types of parties: suppliers, B2B partners, logistics providers, financial
service providers, and individuals, as well as travel agents.

Analytics

SAP HANA has increased the efficiency with which our customers can use analytics to drive business decisions. SAP HANA is able to bridge
the historical divide between transactions and analytics that had hindered real-time decision making. Now transactions and analytics can be
combined into a single in-memory platform, allowing customers to access a single source of truth for real-time planning, execution, reporting,
and analysis on very large volumes of data.

With the amount of data growing exponentially, our software is helping customers have access to immediate, actionable intelligence, thereby
simplifying their business processes. They can retrieve available data in real time. Our analytics offerings deliver outstanding business value by
providing insights to better manage every aspect of the enterprise  from integrated planning and metrics monitoring to risk and compliance.

Namely, analytics solutions from SAP comprise:

Enterprise business intelligence: Engaging companies more fully with information, with solutions that enable users to add new information
and see updates in real time

Agile visualization:  Bringing data to life in real time through intuitive visualizations
Advanced analytics: Combining the power of predictive processing with intuitive modeling and advanced data visualization

Research and Development

From the earliest days of SAP, we have worked diligently to stay ahead of trends and develop new solutions to meet the challenges faced by our
customers and those they serve. Our research and development (R&D) is a global effort that centers on bringing together the creative ideas and
talents of our customers as well as valued partners from industry, technology, the public sector, and academia. Our focus on co-innovation
ensures that we keep up with groundbreaking research and ultimately turn it into solutions that create a real-world impact.

In 2014, we made organizational changes to enhance collaboration between our R&D teams, thereby speeding up innovation. Rather than
operating independently, research and development is now embedded in our development organization, so that the exploration and execution of
ideas are happening side by side, with each informing the other.

Our product development organization is truly global, with the majority of our R&D teams located in 14 SAP Labs locations in 12 countries.
Research teams are also based throughout the world and span a network across multiple locations.

We follow a dual and complementary research and innovation approach. First, topic-focused research teams within existing development units
drive innovation projects. These teams focus on improving existing products as well as delivering short-term innovation with a time horizon of
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up to two years.

Second, we established a dedicated central unit that pursues both short-term and long-term strategic innovation. This unit supports projects with
a time horizon of two to five years by providing a protected environment for business ideas and focusing on a limited number of new solutions.

It also develops the future generation of high-growth opportunities in areas such as the Internet of Things or personalized medicine. With a time
horizon of five to eight years, these projects focus on technologies, applications and new business models that do not fit the
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product portfolio but hold the potential to open up new opportunities, markets, and user groups for SAP.

SAP Innovation Center locations, based in Potsdam and Walldorf, are part of this organization. They combine the creativity and agility of a
startup culture with the backbone of a world market leader in enterprise applications. As the future end users of our innovations, our customers
and partners are involved during the entire runtime of projects and come from industries and companies of all sizes, from longstanding SAP
customers to early stage startups with no current SAP footprint. With a focus on the SAP HANA platform and our cloud and mobile solutions,
these innovation centers strive to open up new application areas for SAP software, ranging from personalized cancer therapy to smart services
that leverage the connectivity of things with the Internet.

Regardless of the setting, SAP embeds methods such as design thinking into all projects and researches innovative approaches to generate and
evaluate applications, technologies, and business ideas.

R&D Investment

SAP s strong commitment to R&D is reflected in our expenditures: In 2014, we increased our R&D expense (IFRS) slightly by 49 million, to
2,331 million (2013: 2,282 million). We spent 13.3% of total revenue on R&D in 2014 (2013: 13.6%). Our non-IFRS R&D expense as a portion
of total operating expenses declined slightly from 18.9% to 18.5% year-over-year.

At the end of 2014, our total full-time equivalent (FTE) count in development work was 18,908 (2013: 17,804). Measured in FTEs, our R&D
headcount was 25% of total headcount (2013: 27%). Total R&D expense not only includes our own personnel costs but also the external cost of
works and services from the providers and cooperation partners we work with to deliver and enhance our products. We also incur external costs
for translating, localizing, and testing products, for obtaining certification for them in different markets, patent attorney services and fees,
strategy consulting, and the professional development of our R&D workforce.

Patents

As a market leader in enterprise applications, SAP actively seeks intellectual property protection for innovations and proprietary information.
Our software innovations continue to strengthen our market position in enterprise solutions and services. Our investment in R&D has resulted in
numerous patents. SAP holds a total of more than 6,800 validated patents worldwide. Of these, 916 were granted and validated in 2014.

While our intellectual property is important to our success, we believe our business as a whole is not dependent on any particular patent.
Service and Support

Many of our customers are experiencing profound shifts in how they use technology and run their businesses. Our service and support
professionals focus on helping them navigate these changes with greater speed, efficiency, and impact. A
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prime example is our recognition that customers have different needs and goals to innovate and make use of the cloud, while preserving their
investment to date. Regardless of their path, we have a broad offering to chart their course. Our teams regularly partner with customers to create
aroad map, removing obstacles and building a business case for migration.

In 2014, we began a significant transformation of our professional consulting service and support teams, bringing them together into one
organization called Global Service & Support. Our goal with the SAP ONE Support program is to provide customers with an integrated support
experience regardless of whether their landscape is on premise, in the cloud, or a hybrid of the two. Customers also benefit from a simplified
experience with SAP with the next generation of premium support engagements.

In addition, SAP ONE Support is designed to enhance SAP Enterprise Support services to simplify the customer experience. This includes a
multitude of aspects, such as removing underlying complexity typically associated in managing end-to-end support across hybrid landscapes,
helping customers choose how to migrate to the cloud, and driving innovation while building on existing on-premise investments. We simplify
customer interactions with us through a single touch point for all services across the entire solution landscape, creating a unified experience
across multiple channels as well as expanding opportunities for co-innovation.

Our new SAP ONE Service approach goes far beyond the traditional consulting model. We combine strong engineering skills with experienced
program management and the domain capabilities of consulting. In a cloud-based environment, this framework is critical to support our
customers in building and running end-to-end solutions for the future, mapping their technology strategy to their business strategy, and
prioritizing the steps to migrate to SAP HANA and the cloud.

An important element of our organization is education. Each year, more than 500,000 individuals are trained by SAP Education, making it one
of the largest IT training organizations in the world. In 2014, we updated SAP Learning Hub, providing customers with an even easier-to-use,
cloud-based platform that allows for flexible, individualized training. Winner of the prestigious Technology Services Industry Association
(TSIA)

Star Award in the fall of 2014, this platform solution further simplifies the user experience of SAP software.

SAP has been a frontrunner in the adoption of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) for use in an enterprise context. openSAP is SAP s
enterprise MOOC provider delivering 18 courses through the end of 2014 free of charge on topics such as SAP HANA, cloud, user experience,
sustainability, and business innovation. openSAP has reached over 500,000 course enrollments with more than 170,000 individual learners.

In addition, the SAP University Alliances program brings SAP to over 2,000 universities in more than 80 countries, and aims to develop
highly-qualified graduates with critical skills for the 21st-century workforce. In partnership with SAP s six University Competence Centers
around the world, universities gain access to an ever-expanding range of SAP software and curriculums, enabling faculty to help students better
connect business and IT concepts to practice.

ACQUISITIONS

SAP views acquisitions as strategic investments in people, technologies, and growth. In 2014, SAP focused on acquisitions that would enhance
its position as a cloud and business network company and advance its mission of helping customers Run Simple.

New Acquisitions
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In May, SAP acquired Fieldglass, a leading provider of cloud solutions for procuring and managing contingent labor and third-party services.
Combined with the collaborative, network-based procurement capabilities of Ariba and the human resources expertise of SuccessFactors, the

Fieldglass acquisition uniquely positions SAP to deliver a platform for businesses to manage their entire workforce both temporary and
permanent staff.

In June, SAP acquired SeeWhy, a leading provider of cloud-based behavioral target marketing solutions to help businesses increase
customer engagement and drive revenues.

In December, SAP acquired Concur Technologies. With more than 23,000 customers and 25 million active users in over 150 countries,
Concur is the leader in the
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multibillion dollar travel and expense management field. With the addition of Concur s corporate travel ecosystem to the Ariba and Fieldglass
networks, our business network the world s largest already transacts more than US$700 billion in annual transaction volumes today,
according to internal analyses. In addition, this acquisition provides an opportunity for us to power transactions that drive more than US$10
trillion of global spend annually.

Organic growth remains the primary driver of our strategy. We will continue to invest in our own product development and technology

innovation, improving the speed, number of projects, and innovations brought to market. We will also continue to acquire targeted, strategic, and

fill-in technology and software to add to our broad solution offerings and improve coverage in key strategic markets. By doing so, we will strive
to best support our customers needs for simplified operations.

For more information about our acquisitions, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (4).
Venture Activities

Through Sapphire Ventures (formerly called SAP Ventures), which comprises our consolidated venture investment funds, SAP supports
investments in renowned entrepreneurs worldwide to build industry-leading businesses. Sapphire Ventures has invested in more than 125
companies on five continents for more than 18 years. Some of these companies have been acquired or have become publicly listed companies.

Sapphire Ventures invests in the next generation of global category leaders as well as early-stage venture capital funds in enterprise and
consumer technology. Specifically, Sapphire Ventures pursues opportunities in which it can help fuel growth by adding expertise, relationships,
geographic reach, and capital. It invests globally with a particular focus on emerging companies in Europe, Israel, and the United States, as well
as in Brazil, China, and India.

SAP s total commitment to Sapphire Ventures is US$1.4 billion for use over the lifetime of its respective funds. Investments through the funds
are currently ongoing.

For more information about our consolidated investment funds, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (35).
PARTNER ECOSYSTEM

Helping Partners Run Simple

We engage with an extensive partner ecosystem to help customers around the world overcome complexity, create value, innovate, and thrive.
Our partners help expand our reach to thousands more companies and millions more users. With more than 12,800 partners at the end of 2014,
our partner ecosystem remains an important element in our success and we continue to create innovative ways for partners of all kinds to
collaborate with us for mutual success.

Partners operate independently of SAP, yet complement our business in one or more of the following ways:

Reselling SAP software and cloud services: Our partners help companies of all sizes identify, purchase, and deploy the ideal solutions for
their businesses. Our value-added resellers (VARs) and multitier distribution channels offer local market and industry expertise that

simplifies the customer s journey to the right solution. We closely align our sales efforts with those of our partners through well-defined rules
of engagement that outline each organization s roles and responsibilities. In most markets, partners are the primary sales channel to address
the needs of small and midsize enterprises (SMEs). Our company also sells selected products through our own online channel, SAP Store,
which includes complementary solutions developed by our partners. In addition, we resell applicable partner solutions as part of our solution
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extensions portfolio. These partner-developed solutions are tested, validated, and approved by our development organizations, and supported
by SAP.

Developing solutions that complement SAP software: SAP has a vibrant community of partners that develop software on SAP platforms
and create complementary products that integrate with our applications. This community is vital in providing our customers with a broad
portfolio of industry-specific solutions that allow customers to meet the
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demands of their markets. At the same time, we maintain strategic relationships with industry-leading technology, software, and services
firms. For example, we engage with the partner community in the development of new and simpler products. Our SAP PartnerEdge program
for Application Development, with more than 850 active members, enables partners to build complementary solutions on top of our
technology platforms and quickly monetize those solutions. Partners can also embed SAP technology within their offerings under an original
equipment manufacturer (OEM) licensing agreement. We work actively with partners to enable new and innovative delivery and go-to-market
approaches to support customer needs and preferences. Aside from these formal partnerships, companies within our ecosystem can also

certify their integration with SAP technology through the SAP Integration and Certification Center.

Providing implementation and other services: ~SAP has strong partnerships with a broad network of IT professional services firms that
provide consulting, system integration, hosting, education, and more. These companies are critical to helping our mutual customers simplify
the implementation and deployment of SAP solutions. In response to growing customer demand for flexible deployment and purchase
options, we work closely with the partner ecosystem to offer innovative cloud-based offerings and services to support different business
models.
To help our partner ecosystem Run Simple and achieve its business goals, we provide an extensive array of business support offerings. For
example, our flagship partner program, SAP PartnerEdge, offers a tiered engagement model that provides marketing, sales, and technical
enablement, as well as education, deal support, and other resources. In addition, we provide selected global partners with dedicated teams that
work closely with them to proactively engage in specialized business development and technical initiatives. Many of our partners participate in
SAP Community Network, an online community that facilitates networking and information sharing. In addition, many also participate in the
SAP Listens program, which surveys partners for feedback and addresses partner issues.

Our partner ecosystem is rapidly embracing our cloud, mobile, and in-memory computing offerings, including SAP HANA, with more than
3,200 partners or startups already building on our

platform. This ecosystem remains a key component in our efforts to simplify our customers technology landscapes and improve the lives of
people everywhere.

CUSTOMERS

When our customers reduce complexity and Run Simple, they can create more sustainable business models  which, in turn, helps us ensure our
own long-term viability. That is why we strive to provide more than just software. We continually engage with our customers at every stage not
only during the sales and implementation phases, but also through the ongoing sharing of best practices and innovations.

One example of this strategy is our Customer Engagement Initiative. This program offers customers early insight into certain aspects of potential
future products and product enhancements so they can provide early input and feedback in the development cycle. In addition, it offers
customers the opportunity to network on topics of mutual interest. These networking opportunities take place at a variety of global events,
including the SAPPHIRE NOW and SAP TechEd conferences, as well as virtual events.

Customer Loyalty

We gauge customer loyalty through an annual survey that measures our Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS). Customer loyalty is one of our
four enterprise-wide strategic goals, along with growth, profitability, and employee engagement.

SAP has used Customer NPS as a key performance indicator since 2012. As we gather experience with the metric and as our business evolves,
we expanded our customer base when conducting the 2014 assessment to better reflect our business completely. In addition to our on-premise
customers, in 2014 for the first time we included Ariba, SuccessFactors, and Sybase customers in the survey. Therefore, the 2014 Customer NPS
score is not fully comparable to the prior year s score.
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In 2014, we achieved a global Customer NPS of 19.1%. This very positive score exceeded our 2014 target of 16%. We aim to achieve a
Customer NPS score of 24% in 2015.

Our increased NPS reflects our continued commitment to listening to our customers and
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responding to their needs. Our goal is to best support both their success and the success of SAP. For example, we conducted global in-person
and online focus groups with customers to gain additional insights into business benefits themes identified through the surveys. These sessions
have enabled us to identify the underlying reasons behind issues and focus more precisely on where we need to make improvements.

For more information on the Customer NPS, see the Performance Management System.

Strong Customer Demand

In 2014, we saw customers embrace our strategy by licensing or subscribing to the full range of the SAP portfolio from comprehensive
solutions for large enterprises to the latest mobile apps.

Some examples by region include the following customers:

Americas Region

Antofagasta Minerals, a Chilean-based copper mining group, selected SAP solutions including SAP HANA and SuccessFactors HR
solutions  to manage its operations on a single platform and help support innovation through Big Data analytics as well as cloud and mobile
solutions.

Bombardier Recreational Products, a Canadian-based global leader in motorized recreational vehicles and powersports engines, selected
SAP solutions, including SuccessFactors Employee Central, to optimize its HR solutions and delivery.

The National Hockey League (NHL), composed of 30 member clubs in the United States and Canada, plans to use the power of SAP
HANA to create new statistics that increase fan engagement. This content is expected to be served to fans through a variety of online,
television, and mobile media channels.

Banco Central de Costa Rica selected SAP ERP, SuccessFactors, and other software to obtain an integrated business platform for all
administrative, financial, and accounting functions. The Central Bank of Costa Rica plans to create a centralized and integrated business
information warehouse for efficient reporting and decision making.

Ralph Lauren, one of the world s most successful fashion brands, has chosen solutions from hybris and Ariba, both SAP companies, to
pursue its growth objectives. Ralph Lauren will use hybris solutions to improve the consumer shopping experience through better
omnichannel capabilities and Ariba s global procurement network to reduce costs and enhance service quality.

Asia Pacific Japan (APJ) Region

AGL Corporate Services Pty, one of Australia s leading renewable energy companies, recently went live with SAP Fiori apps for purchase
order approval and leave request approval. SAP Fiori helps AGL simplify business processes through an improved user interface and
external access to workflow tasks.
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Infosys, a global leader in technology, consulting, outsourcing, and next-generation services has gone live with SAP Business Suite powered
by SAP HANA. With SAP HANA, Infosys expects to accelerate its financial closing processes and progressively move more and more batch
activities into a real-time environment.

Singapore Health Services, one of the largest healthcare groups in Singapore, has selected Ariba solutions to replace its existing
procurement platforms. Singapore Health Services expects to improve collaboration with vendors and standardize purchasing practices
across its network.

Tatung Group, a major computer and electronic home appliance company in Taiwan, has chosen SAP as its strategic partner for
co-innovation and simplification of all business processes on SAP HANA. Over a five-year period, Tatung plans to implement multiple SAP
solutions to transform its business, simplify operations, and become a leader in the smart energy industry.

Mitsui Knowledge Industry (MKI), an IT services provider in Japan, selected the SAP HANA Enterprise Cloud service. In addition to its
own professional data analysis service, MKI now aims to provide a market forecasting service for various commodities through a highly
available and efficient enterprise cloud infrastructure.
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Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) Region

The Department of Zakat and Income Tax (DZIT), reporting to the Ministry of Finance of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, selected the SAP
Fraud Management analytic application powered by SAP HANA with the goal of reducing fraud exposure. With the help of SAP, DZIT
looks to replace manual processes and increase the revenue for the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The Kenya Electricity Transmission Company has selected the SAP HANA platform for innovation and the SAP Fiori user experience to
simplify its user interface. With these solutions, Ketraco expects to increase its capacity to provide a premium customer experience based on
real-time data and analysis.

Spire Healthcare, a provider of private healthcare in the United Kingdom, selected SAP HANA with the aim of improving its patient overall
experience.

Telefénica, an international telecommunications company based in Spain, with more than 120,000 employees selected SuccessFactors HCM
Suite as its solution to provide employees with an optimal workplace, demonstrate a commitment to talent, and ensure the best opportunities
for professional development.

Euromaster, a leading integrated tire service and car maintenance network in Europe, chose SAP Business Suite powered by SAP HANA to
help handle its finance and supply chain processes. The company hopes to improve efficiency, optimize network coverage and make its
business processes more efficient. Euromaster chose SAP software as SAP was the only company offering a concrete industry-specific
solution for retail and wholesale using the power of SAP HANA.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE: ENERGY AND EMISSIONS

One of the primary ways that we can help both our customers and SAP tackle the challenge of complexity is by increasing efficiency.
Simplification and efficiency go hand in hand, and we have worked to enhance both by taking responsibility for our energy usage and carbon
emissions including IT-related impact of our customers consuming our cloud offerings.

As we accelerate our shift to the cloud, we have tied our business strategy to our environmental strategy by creating a completely green cloud at
SAP, referring to carbon neutrality by purchasing 100% renewable electricity certificates and compensation by offsets. This change which we
implemented in 2014  does more than mitigate our own impacts. It also means that we can better serve our customers, as we simplify their IT
landscape through our cloud offerings and help them increase their own efficiency. Our green cloud strategy is complemented by 100%
renewable energy for facilities and electric company cars charged at SAP locations.

The evolution of our green cloud reflects the critical links we see between our environmental and business performance. We bring equal rigor to
addressing and measuring both of these areas. In assessing our environmental impact, we focus on energy usage throughout SAP, as well as
greenhouse gas emissions across our value chain. Since the beginning of 2008, our energy efficiency measures have generated a cumulative cost
avoidance of 310 million, compared to a business-as-usual scenario, with 45 million of that amount created in 2014.

Total Energy Consumed
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Because our energy usage drives our emissions, one of the most important measures we look at is our total energy consumed. This includes all
energy that SAP generates or purchases to run our facilities, data centers, company cars, and corporate jets. Our total energy consumption
increased to 920 gigawatt hours (GWh) in 2014, compared to 910 GWh in 2013.

This increase is due to significant growth in our business. In addition, as software usage shifts to the cloud, we are operating more of our
customers systems in our data centers, as well as other locations where we are supplementing our servers. This additional cloud operation, along
with the accompanying servers and facilities, consumes more energy. At the same time, we believe this shift has the opposite effect for our
customers, who can simplify their technology and which save energy through our shared infrastructure, reducing the overall IT-related energy
consumption through our highly energy-efficient cloud provisioning.

As our business grows, we have maintained the efficiency gains we have made over the past several years. For example, our total corporate car
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fleet is not consuming more fuel despite the fact that a significant number of company cars have been added, since the average company car has
become more fuel-efficient. So, while our car fleet grew by 5%, we had efficiency gains of 3% across the entire fleet. As a result, our total
energy consumption decreased slightly to 13,400 kilowatt hours (kWh) per employee in 2014 (2013: 13,900 kWh).

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Our goal is to reduce the net greenhouse gas emissions from our operations to levels of the year 2000 by 2020. This target includes all direct and
indirect emissions from running our business (Scopes 1 and 2), as well as a selected subset of other indirect (Scope 3) emissions. We do not
include all of our Scope 3 emissions in our target because we chose to focus first on those emissions over which we have control or capability to
influence. However, we are increasingly addressing both our upstream and downstream emissions to support a comprehensive carbon strategy
for SAP.

Specifically, we are working to reduce our emissions through three primary approaches: increasing our operational efficiency combined with
innovative approaches to the way we do things; purchasing high-quality renewable electricity certificates; and investing in high-quality carbon
credits.

In addition to our long-term goal for 2020, we have set annual targets. Despite integrating new acquisitions in 2014, our total net emissions
decreased to 500 kilotons CO, (2013: 545 kilotons). This decrease stems primarily from our shift to powering all of our data centers and

facilities with 100% renewable electricity. We are effectively compensating the emissions caused by our customers systems that have moved
into our green cloud. Given the large size of our customers footprints and our growth strategy in the cloud, we see significant potential to reduce
both our own and our customers environmental impact.

Nonetheless, we missed our annual target to reduce our emissions to 440 kilotons. The reason is that our business has continued to grow, and
more of our overall emissions are caused by business travel. In other words, our shift to green energy ~ while critical to our long-term reduction
strategy  could not fully compensate for the business travel enabling our growth. At the same

time, this shift did enhance our efficiency. Our greenhouse gas emissions decreased from 32.4 grams CO, per euro of total revenue in 2013 to
28.4 grams CO, per euro in 2014. Our carbon emissions per employee also decreased by about 12% in 2014.

In addition to greater efficiency, we have achieved an overall absolute reduction of 16% since our peak year 2007, when we set our long-term
carbon target. This reduction has occurred even as the average number of employees at SAP has increased by almost 32%.

Environmental Innovations

The ongoing tension between growth in our business and our goal to reduce our emissions has led us to pursue new approaches. To further
decrease our car-related emissions, in 2014, we committed to increase the portion of electric vehicles (or alternatives) in our company car fleet
from currently less than 1% to 20% by 2020. This initiative addresses a dilemma that has grown in recent years. Namely, along with our
business expansion, the number of SAP employees who are eligible for a company car has increased annually. We aim to ensure that we do not
undo our efficiency gains with our growing car fleet.

In keeping with our existing policy for office buildings and data centers, we continue to power our electric company cars with 100% renewable
sources. In Germany, for example, we are incentivizing employees to make the switch by offering a battery subsidy that offsets the cost of using
an electric vehicle. We are also developing a management solution that will address range anxiety, helping drivers intelligently plan out their
trips, their maximum range and the availability of charging stations. We believe that our electric car initiative will play a critical role in helping
us achieve our 2020 carbon reduction goal.
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Our shift to a green cloud will also bring us closer to our carbon emission goal while extending our reach beyond SAP. In addition to reducing
our own emissions, this change enables us to create a far greater impact through our customers. In 2014 alone, the emissions caused by SAP
products in use at the sites of our more than 282,000 customers were at least 10 times larger than SAP s own footprint, meaning they caused
more than 6,200 kilotons of CO2. By using 100% renewable energy, we dramatically broaden our sustainability efforts and align them with our
cloud strategy. We believe this move not only helps the
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world run better, but significantly reduces the carbon produced both inside and outside SAP.

In 2014, we also began realizing the benefits of another key sustainability initiative, our investment in the Livelihoods Fund, a unique
investment fund whose returns consist of high-quality carbon credits. Several years ago, we made an initial investment of 3 million covering a
20-year participation in the fund, which supports the sustainability of agricultural and rural communities worldwide.

Projects of this fund focus on ecosystem restoration, agriculture, agro-forestry, and rural energy. In eastern India, for example, the fund has
helped communities plant fruit trees to diversify food sources and address overcultivation of soil. As opposed to a charitable donation, we have
made a long-term investment that brings benefits to society, the environment and SAP. In 2014, we received our first carbon credits from the
fund, which helped us reduce our carbon footprint by another 11.2 kilotons.

Another important piece of progress in 2014 was the further implementation of ISO 14001 in SAP locations throughout the world. This well
accepted environmental management system is now in place in 23 of our locations worldwide, including our SAP North America headquarters
in Newtown Square, Pennsylvania, in the United States, as well as in such diverse countries as Austria, Brazil, Canada (Vancouver), the Czech
Republic, Germany, Israel, Italy, and South Africa. To act faster and achieve consistency, we have created a template for rolling out to new sites,
enabling us to efficiently build a large global network in which different sites interact and share best practices.

Data Center Energy

Data centers are at the heart of how SAP provides solutions to our customers. The energy consumption in data centers is closely related to
technology innovation and customer adoption of our solutions. At the same time, with our energy consumption rising as more of our business
moves to the cloud, data centers have become a primary focus of our carbon reduction efforts.

As noted earlier, in 2014 we addressed our data center electricity consumption by shifting entirely to a green cloud at SAP. This means that
100% of our energy usage to provide internal and external computation power now comes from renewable sources. At the same time, we began
utilizing

external data centers to meet the growing needs of our cloud customers. For this reason, our total data center electricity consumption at both our
internal and external sites  increased from 173 to 179 GWh. To reflect our strategic shift towards a cloud delivery model based on internal and
external data centers, we decided to normalize total data center electricity consumption against revenue instead of per SAP employee. On a per
million euro basis, this consumption stayed flat at 10.2 megawatt hours (MWh) per million euro revenue between 2013 and 2014.

Renewable Energy

Our investment in renewable energy plays a critical role in mitigating our environmental impact, helping us better serve our customers and
support a more sustainable energy market. We are committed to buying from renewable sources in 2014 we focused on solar, wind, and hydro.
Our shift in 2014 to 100% renewable energy in all of our data centers and facilities is one of our most significant actions to date to make our
operations more sustainable.

In 2014, renewable energy accounted for 100% of our total electricity, compared with 43% in 2013. While we produce a small amount of
renewable energy through solar panels in some locations, we mainly rely on the purchase of Renewable Electricity Certificates (RECs) to
increase the renewable electricity in our energy mix. We procure RECs that add value and drive change in the electricity market, adopting a set
of key criteria to establish high-quality standards, which were aligned with two NGOs. For example, we will consider renewable electricity from
biomass only if it is disconnected from coal or other fossil power plants and if the biomass itself is not related to deforestation. In addition, we
require that power plants must be no more than 10 years old, as we aim to foster new innovation and production of renewable energy.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS AND LICENSES
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We rely on a combination of the protections provided by applicable statutory and common law rights, including trade secret, copyright, patent,
and trademark laws, license and non-disclosure agreements, and technical measures to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our
products. For further details on risks related to SAP s
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intellectual property rights, see Item 3 Key Information Risk Factors Operational Risks.

We may be dependent in the aggregate on technology that we license from third parties that is embedded into our products or that we resell to
our customers. We have licensed and will continue to license numerous third-party software products that we incorporate into and/or distribute
with our existing products. We endeavor to protect ourselves in the respective agreements by obtaining certain rights in case such agreements are
terminated.

We are a party to certain patent cross-license agreements with certain third parties.

We are named as a defendant or plaintiff in various legal proceedings for alleged intellectual property infringements. See Note (24) to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion relating to certain of these legal proceedings.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Our principal office is located in Walldorf, Germany, where we own and occupy approximately 430,000 square meters of office and datacenter
space including our facilities in neighboring St. Leon-Rot. We also own and lease office space in various other locations in Germany, totaling
approximately 120,000 square meters. In approximately 70 countries worldwide, we occupy roughly 1,585,000 square meters. The space in most
locations other than our principal office in Germany is leased. We also own certain real properties in Newtown Square and Palo Alto (United
States); Bangalore (India); Sao Leopoldo (Brazil); London (UK) and a few other locations in and outside of Germany.

The office and datacenter space we occupy includes approximately 300,000 square meters in the EMEA region, excluding Germany,
approximately 410,000 square meters in the region North and Latin America, and approximately 325,000 square meters in the APJ Region.

With the acquisition of Concur in 2014, we added approximately 46,000 square meters to our real estate portfolio. This portfolio is included in
the group portfolio disclosed above.

The space is being utilized for various corporate functions including research and development, our

data centers, customer support, sales and marketing, consulting, training, administration and messaging. Substantially all our facilities are being
fully used or sublet. For a discussion on our non-current assets by geographic region see Note (29) to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Also see, Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees Employees, which discusses the numbers of our employees, in FTE s, by
business area and by geographic region, which may be used to approximate the productive capacity of our workspace in each region.

We believe that our facilities are in good operating condition and adequate for our present usage. We do not have any significant encumbrances
on our properties. We do not believe we are subject to any environmental issues that may affect our utilization of any of our material assets. We
are currently undertaking construction activities in various locations to increase our capacity for future expansion of our business. Our
significant construction activities are described below, under the heading Principal Capital Expenditures and Divestitures Currently in Progress.

Capital Expenditures

Principal Capital Expenditures and Divestitures Currently in Progress

In 2014, we started construction activities in several locations. We aim to extend our office space to be able to cover future growth. We plan to
cover all of these projects in full from operating cash flow. The most important projects are:
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In Bangalore, India, we want to add additional capacity of roughly 2,500 employees. We estimate the total cost to be approximately
49 million, of which we had paid approximately 3 million as of December 31, 2014. We expect to complete the construction of this office
building in 2016.

In Ra anana, Israel, we commenced construction of a new building. We estimate the total cost of this project to be approximately 54 million,
of which we had paid approximately 15 million as of December 31, 2014. We expect to complete the construction of this office building in
2016.

In our research center in Potsdam, Germany, we started with a second construction phase in order to realize additional capacity for
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approximately 150 employees. With the extension of our research center we aim to create the general conditions for further teams
contributing innovations to SAP products in miscellaneous fields. We estimate the total cost to be approximately 15 million, of which we had
paid approximately 4 million as of December 31, 2014. We expect to complete the construction of this office building in 2016.

In New York City, New York, United States, we started planning the leasehold improvements for our new office space. The project includes
the consolidation of our New York City offices for approximately 450 employees. We estimate the total capital expenditures for this project
to be approximately 31 million, of which we had paid approximately 1 million as of December 31, 2014. We expect to complete the
leasehold improvements in 2016.

In Paris, France, we started an office consolidation project. The project aims to consolidate three office spaces in Paris into one office space.
We estimate the total cost of the leasehold improvements to be approximately 32 million. We expect to complete the leasehold improvements
in 2015.

In Dubai, United Arab Emirates, we started an office consolidation project including an expansion of office space adding additional capacity

for 100 employees. We estimate the total cost to be approximately 11 million. We expect to complete the leasehold improvements in 2016.
For more information about planned capital expenditures, see the Investment Goals section. There were no material divestitures within the
reporting period.

Principal Capital Expenditures and Divestitures for the Last Three Years

Our principal capital expenditures for property, plant, and equipment amounted to 666 million for 2014 (2013: 553 million; 2012: 508 million).
Principal capital expenditures in 2014 for property, plant, and equipment increased compared to 2013 mainly due to the replacement and

purchase of computer hardware and vehicles acquired in the normal course of business and investments in data centers. The increase from 2012

to 2013 was mainly due to

purchases of computer hardware including data center infrastructure. Principal capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment for the
period from January 1, 2015 to the date of this report were 82 million. For a further information on our property, plant, and equipment see Note
(17) to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our capital expenditures for intangible assets such as acquired technologies and customer relationships amounted to 1,956 million in 2014 from

419 million in 2013 (2012: 1,794 million). The increase from 2013 to 2014 was due to the acquisition of Concur in 2014, while in 2013 we only
executed a few smaller business combinations. Our investments allocated to goodwill amounted to 6,012 million in 2014 from 842 million in
2013 (2012: 4,557 million). The significant increase from 2013 to 2014 was again due to the acquisition of Concur in 2014 compared to the few
smaller business combinations in 2013. The decrease from 2012 to 2013 in the addition to goodwill and intangible assets was primarily
attributable to executing only a few small business combinations in 2013 compared to the acquisition of SuccessFactors and Ariba in 2012. For
further details on acquisitions and related capital expenditures, see Note (4) and Note (16) to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

For further information regarding the principal markets in which SAP conducts business, including a breakdown of total revenues by category of
activity and geographic market for each of the last three years, see Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects ~Operating Results
(IFRS) of this report.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
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Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

OVERVIEW

We derive our revenue from fees charged to our customers for (a) the use of our cloud offerings, (b) licenses to our on-premise software
products and (c) support, consulting, customer-specific on-premise software development arrangements, training, and other services.
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Depending on the product or service provided we classify our revenues either as (a) software and software-related services revenue or
(b) professional services and other service revenue.

For more information on our principal sources of revenue and how the different types of revenue are classified in our income statement refer to
Note (3b) to our Consolidated Financial Statements, section Revenue Recognition.

See Item 4. Information about SAP  Products, Research & Development, and Services for a more detailed description of the products and
services we offer.

The following discussion is provided to enable a better understanding of our operating results for the periods covered, including:

the factors that we believe impacted our performance in 2014;

our outlook for 2014 compared to our actual performance (non-IFRS);

a discussion of our operating results (IFRS) for 2014 compared to 2013 and for 2013 compared to 2012;

the factors that we believe will impact our performance in 2015; and

our operational targets for 2015 (non-IFRS).
The preceding overview should be read in conjunction with the more detailed discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
operations in this Item 5, Item 3. Key Information Risk Factors and Item 18. Financial Statements.

ECONOMY AND THE MARKET

Global Economic Trends

The global economy recovered during the course of 2014, although slowly and heterogeneously, according to the European Central Bank (ECB).
The ECB reports that progress in some advanced economies was restrained early in the year, gained momentum in the second and third quarters,
but then weakened slightly in the fourth quarter. In the emerging economies, in contrast, the ECB says, structural problems and a tight credit
environment impeded growth throughout the year.

On the other hand, geopolitical crises, such as those in Ukraine and the Middle East, had little impact on the global economy in 2014, according
to the ECB.

Year-over-year growth in the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) region was significantly slower than the global average. The ECB
reports that growth in the euro area lost momentum throughout 2014; it was particularly weak in the fourth quarter given unexpectedly low
investment and exports. The ECB estimates that euro-area gross domestic product (GDP) increased 0.8% year-over-year. It notes that overall
growth was robust in Central and Eastern Europe in the first half of 2014 but that in some countries growth slowed in the second half of the year.
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The intensifying conflict in Ukraine, the international sanctions, and falling oil prices all hampered growth in the Russian economy, especially in
the second half of the year.

Year-over-year growth in the Americas region was also slower than the global average, the ECB reports. Strong domestic demand underpinned
substantial growth in the U.S. economy, especially in the second and third quarters. In contrast, economic growth in Latin America weakened
and the disparity between countries growth increased in 2014. For example, the ECB reports that the Brazilian economy grew little indeed, it
contracted in the first six months  while experiencing steep inflation. In contrast, the Mexican economy regained traction in 2014 after suffering
a marked reversal the previous year, according to the ECB.

Economic trends in the Asia Pacific Japan (APJ) region were again mixed. In Japan, economic growth slowed again. In the second and third
quarters, Japan s economy even contracted; the ECB links this development with the increase in consumption tax on April 1, 2014. Japan
returned to growth in the last quarter of the year. Year-over-year, economic growth in China decelerated primarily because of a decline in
investments. National and local stimulus programs brought a return to greater stability in the fourth quarter. According to the ECB, the outcome
was full-year economic growth in China at a rate in the upper single-digit percentage range.

The IT Market

According to U.S. market research firm International Data Corporation (IDC), the global IT market expanded 4.1% in 2014, which is in the
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lower end of the range IDC expected in its earlier quarterly projections. Drivers were a decrease in production and a decline of average prices for
tablets and smartphones in a saturated market, according to IDC. These effects had not been foreseen at the beginning of the year. On the other
hand, PC-related sales revenue shrank less than IDC had forecasted in its projections earlier in the year. Indeed, in the advanced economies PC
spending rose for the first time since 2010, although it continued to decline in the emerging economies. IDC s expectations for the software and
related services markets remained broadly constant all year. IDC expected that the software market grew 6.1% and the services market grew
3.3% in 2014. According to IDC companies continue to invest in software; increasingly so in solutions for the cloud, mobile, and Big Data. Such
investment is targeted at cost reduction, more efficient operation, and optimized hardware utilization.

Each segment of the IT market in the EMEA region expanded less than the global average. IDC states that, in Western Europe, a resurgent PC
market (8.2% growth) drove an increase in total IT spending. Nonetheless, overall growth in the IT market in Western Europe market was 1.8%
(Germany: 3.6%), which was negatively influenced by political tensions with Russia. The impact of the Ukraine crisis was more noticeable in
Central and Eastern Europe, where the IT market nearly stagnated with 0.1% growth (Russia 0.1%). The IT market in the Africa and the Middle
East grew by a percentage well into double digits.

In the Americas region, IDC estimates the U.S. IT market as relatively stable and calculated growth of 3.8% in 2014. Progress was slowest in the
first quarter, similar to what was seen in the U.S. economy. IT demand grew most rapidly for cloud products, and that growth was at the expense
of traditional software products. The markets in Latin America grew more slowly than previously. IDC estimates that the IT market in Latin
America grew only 6.2% year-over-year (Brazil: 7.1%; Mexico: 2.8%) after double-digit growth in the previous year and despite a projection of
8% growth for 2014 made at the beginning of the year.

The two largest economies in the APJ region, China and Japan, experienced some difficulty in 2014, and in both countries the IT market was
affected, IDC reports. In Japan, where IT spending had grown 4.0% in 2013, IDC estimates that it increased only 0.6% in 2014, held back by the
weakness of the overall economy. For China, IDC

projected 13.3% growth in 2014 at the beginning of the year, but by the end of the year it had trimmed its expectation to 9.8%.

Impact on SAP

Once again, growth in the overall global economy and in the IT industry was relatively slow in 2014, and it became increasingly volatile as the
year progressed. This confronted SAP with considerable challenges. However, thanks to our innovation strategy, extended product portfolio, and
strong diversification, we once again succeeded in significantly expanding our business and outperformed the overall global economy and IT
industry in all regions in 2014 with regards to revenue growth.

Our non-IFRS software and software-related services revenue increased 7% at constant currencies in 2014. Both our core business and our cloud
business contributed substantially to the increase. In our core business, non-IFRS software and support revenue increased 5% at constant
currencies, although software revenue growth was affected by difficult economic conditions in almost all of the most important emerging
economies for us, notably in Latin America, Russia and Ukraine, and Japan. That led to a 3% year-over-year decline in our non-IFRS software
revenue at constant currencies, while our constant currency non-IFRS support revenue grew 8%. Support revenue is a robust feature of our core
business model because a maintenance contract generally continues for as long as the customer uses the software. Our cloud business growth
was strong. Non-IFRS cloud subscription and support revenue grew 45% over the year at constant currencies. That growth was 32% even after
eliminating the results from the acquired cloud companies.

In the EMEA region, we were again highly successful, attaining 7% growth in non-IFRS software and software-related services revenue at
constant currencies, while our performance in the United Kingdom was especially noteworthy. A 57% year-over-year increase in non-IFRS
cloud subscription and support revenue at constant currencies is an indication that the cloud business is also of growing importance in the EMEA
region.
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In the Americas region, we achieved 7% growth in non-IFRS software and software-related services revenue at constant currencies despite the
difficulties of weak economic progress, particularly in Latin America. Non-IFRS cloud subscription and support revenue grew 39% in the full
year at constant currencies.
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In the APJ region, the economic environment remained weak in 2014 and was also reflected in our modest revenue growth. However, our strong
growth in cloud and a solid performance in India are worth highlighting. In the APJ region, our non-IFRS software and software-related services
revenue grew 7% year-over-year at constant currencies, considerably supported by a 60% increase in constant currency non-IFRS cloud
subscription and support revenue.

In 2014, we again demonstrated that we are consistently pursuing our strategy for innovation and growth and that globally we are able to
generate growth that few other IT companies can match.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In the first quarter of 2014, we took significant steps to drive forward our strategy and our ambition to become THE cloud company powered by
SAP HANA. To execute this strategy, we merged certain areas of the company that performed similar tasks (for example, the on-premise sales
forces with the cloud sales force, and the on-premise support units with the cloud support units) to achieve the seamless organization of SAP.

Since this integration and in the entire year 2014, our cloud-related activities were no longer handled by separate components in our Company.
Our Executive Board assesses the financial performance of our Company on an integrated basis only. Consequently, SAP had one single
operating segment in 2014.

For more information about the changes to our segment reporting, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (29).

PERFORMANCE AGAINST OUTLOOK FOR 2014 (NON-IFRS)

Our 2014 operating profit-related internal management goals and published outlook were based on our non-IFRS financial measures. For this
reason, in this section we discuss performance against our outlook referring solely to these non-IFRS financial measures. All discussion in the
Operating Results (IFRS) section, however, is in terms of measures in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting

Standards Board (IASB), and the numbers in that section are not explicitly identified as IFRS measures.

Starting in the second quarter of 2014, we additionally adjusted our non-IFRS operating expense by excluding the expenses resulting from the
Versata litigation. (For more information about this litigation, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (24)).
Prior-year amounts have been adjusted accordingly. We exclude the Versata litigation expenses to provide additional insight into the
comparability of our ongoing operating performance across periods and to continue the alignment of our non-IFRS measures with our internal
performance measures.

Guidance for 2014 (Non-IFRS)

At the beginning of 2014, we gave the guidance that our cloud subscription and support revenue (non-IFRS) will increase to between

950 million and 1 billion (2013: 757 million) at constant currencies. For our software and software-related service revenue (non-IFRS) for 2014,
we forecasted an increase of between 6% and 8% at constant currencies (2013: 14,032 million). We expected our full-year operating profit
(non-IFRS) for 2014 to be between 5.8 billion and 6.0 billion (2013: 5.48 billion) at constant currencies. We anticipated an effective tax rate
(IFRS) of between 26.0% and 27.0% (2013: 24.4%) and an effective tax rate (non-IFRS) of between 27.5% and 28.5% (2013: 25.9%).

In April, we confirmed the guidance for 2014 that we had published in January 2014. In July, we increased our outlook for cloud subscription
and support revenue (non-IFRS) to between 1,000 million and 1,050 million (2013: 757 million) at constant currencies.
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Based on the strong momentum in SAP s cloud business, we raised our cloud outlook again in October and expected non-IFRS cloud
subscriptions and support revenue to be in a range of 1,040 million to 1,070 million at constant currencies (2013: 757 million). With the
customer-driven mix shift from upfront to cloud subscription revenue we expected full-year 2014 non-IFRS operating profit to be in a range of

5.6 billion to 5.8 billion (previously 5.8 billion to 6.0 billion) at constant currencies (2013: 5.48 billion). We confirmed our predictions for
software and software-related service revenue (non-IFRS at constant currencies) and for the anticipated effective tax rates.
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To assist in understanding our 2014 performance as compared to our 2014 outlook a reconciliation from our IFRS financial measures to our
non-IFRS financial measures is provided below. These IFRS financial measures reconcile to the nearest non-IFRS equivalents as follows:

Recurring Currency

Revenue Tomorrow Effect Non-IFRS

not Now on the Financial
IFRS Recorded Acquisition- Share- and Non-IFRS Non-IFRS Measure at

millions, except Financial Under Related Based  Restruc- Versata  Financial Financial Constant
operating margin Measure IFRS Charges Payments turing Litigation Measure Measure Currency
Software and software-related service

revenue 14,855 19 NA NA NA NA 14,874 110 14,984
Total revenue( 17,560 19 NA NA NA NA 17,580 142 17,722
Operating profit(1) 4,331 19 562 290 126 309 5,638 9 5,628
Operating margin in % 24.7 0.1 32 1.7 0.7 1.8 32.1 0.3 31.8

(1) QOperating profit is the numerator and total revenue is the denominator in the calculation of our IFRS operating margin and the comparable non-IFRS
operating margin, and is included in this table for the convenience of the reader.

Actual Performance in 2014 Compared to Guidance (Non-IFRS)

We achieved or exceeded the amended outlook guidance for revenue and operating profit we published in October.

Comparison of Forecast and Results for 2014

Forecast for 2014 Results for 2014
Cloud subscription and support revenue (non-IFRS, at constant 1,098 million
currencies) 1,040 million to 1,070 million
Software and software-related service revenue (non-IFRS, at
constant currencies) +6% to +8% +7%
Operating profit (non-IFRS, at constant currencies)" 5.6 billion to 5.8 billion 5.63 billion
Effective tax rate (IFRS) 26.0% to 27.0% 24.7%
Effective tax rate (non-IFRS) 27.5% to 28.5% 26.1%

D) Revised forecast (October 2014).
Despite ongoing economic uncertainty throughout 2014, our new and existing customers continued to show a strong willingness to invest in our
solutions. We saw a strong impetus toward growth in the cloud business.

At constant currencies, non-IFRS cloud subscription and support revenue grew from 757 million in 2013 to 1,098 million in 2014. That
represents an increase of 45% at constant currencies. The increase includes effects relating to acquisitions not included, or not included in full, in
the 2013 amount. These acquisition-related effects account for 13 percentage points in the increase. The increase in our cloud subscription
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and support revenue led to an increase in our annual cloud revenue run rate to 1,716 million (2013: 1,016 million), with Concur and Fieldglass
having together contributed 0.3 billion to the 2014 run rate. In 2014, we began to use the sum of non-IFRS fourth-quarter cloud subscription and
support revenue ( 360 million) and fourth-quarter non-IFRS cloud-related professional services and other service revenue ( 69 million), multiplied
by four, to calculate our annual cloud revenue run rate.

Our non-IFRS software and software-related services revenue grew 7% at constant currencies to 14,984 million (2013: 14,032 million).
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Despite adverse economic conditions weighing on business in Russia and Ukraine, our performance in the Europe, Middle East, and Africa
(EMEA) region was again sound. Non-IFRS software and software-related service revenue grew 6% (7% at constant currencies) and non-IFRS
cloud subscription and support revenue increased 58% (57% at constant currencies) in the EMEA region. In the Americas region, non-IFRS
software and software-related service revenue increased 6% (7% at constant currencies), with strong growth in the United States. The economic
and political environment in Latin America remained difficult. Our non-IFRS cloud subscription and support revenue increased 39% (39% at
constant currencies) in the Americas region. In the Asia Pacific Japan (APJ) region, our non-IFRS software and software-related service revenue
increased 4% (7% at constant currencies). Non-IFRS cloud subscription and support revenue increased 59% (60% at constant currencies) in the
APJ region.

In 2014, we achieved a non-IFRS operating profit of 5,628 million at constant currencies. Thus, constant currency non-IFRS operating profit
was within the range ( 5.6 billion to 5.8 billion) we had expected in our updated outlook.

We achieved an effective tax rate (IFRS) of 24.7% and an effective tax rate (non-IFRS) of 26.1%, which is below the outlook of 26.0% to 27.0%

(IFRS) and 27.5% to 28.5% (non-IFRS). The reduction mainly results from the regional allocation of income, from tax effects on changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, and from taxes for prior years.

OPERATING RESULTS (IFRS)

This section on operating results (IFRS) discusses results only in terms of IFRS measures, so the IFRS numbers are not expressly identified as
such.

We acquired Concur Technologies in December 2014, so Concur results are incorporated in our 2014 results only for December. We acquired
Fieldglass in May 2014, so Fieldglass results are incorporated in our 2014 results only for May to December. Similarly, because we acquired
hybris in August 2013, hybris results are incorporated in our 2013 results only for August to December.

Our 2014 Results Compared to Our 2013 Results (IFRS)

Revenue
Revenue
Change in
%
millions 2014 2013 2014 vs 2013
Cloud subscriptions and support 1,087 696 56%
Software 4,399 4,516 3%
Support 9,368 8,738 7%
Software and support 13,767 13,254 4%
Software and software-related service revenue 14,855 13,950 6%
Professional services and other service revenue 2,706 2,865 6%
Total revenue 17,560 16,815 4%
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Total Revenue

Total revenue increased from 16,815 million in 2013 to 17,560 million in 2014, representing an increase of 746 million, or 4%. This growth
reflects a 5% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from currency effects. The growth in revenue resulted primarily
froma 391 million increase in cloud subscription and support revenue and a 631 million rise in

support revenue. Consulting revenue declined 147 million and software revenue declined 117 million. Software and software-related service
revenue climbed to 14,855 million in 2014, an increase of 6%. Software and software-related service revenue represented 85% of total revenue
in 2014 (2013: 83%). Professional services and other service revenue declined 6% from 2,865 million in 2013 to 2,706 million, which was 15%
of total revenue, in 2014.
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For more information about the breakdown of total revenue by region and industry, see the Revenue by Region and Industry section below.
Software and Software-Related Service Revenue

Software revenue results from the fees earned from selling or licensing software to customers. Revenue from cloud subscriptions and support
refers to the income earned from contracts that permit the customer to access specific software solutions hosted by SAP during the term of its
contract with SAP. Support revenue represents fees earned from providing technical support services and unspecified software upgrades,
updates, and enhancements to customers.

Cloud subscription and support revenue increased from 696 million in 2013 to 1,087 million in 2014. Deferred cloud subscription and support
revenue totaled 690 million on December 31, 2014, an increase of 56% (December 31, 2013: 443 million).

The revenue share from more predictable cloud subscription and support revenue together with support revenue increased to 60% (2013: 56%)
of total revenue.

A combination of a challenging macroeconomic and political environment in Russia, Ukraine, and some Latin American markets and the
accelerating industry shift to the cloud resulted in a 117 million decline in software revenue. That decline, from 4,516 million in 2013 to
4,399 million in 2014, reflects a 3% decrease from changes in volumes and prices.

Our customer base continued to expand in 2014. Based on the number of contracts concluded, 12% of the orders we received for software in

2014 were from new customers (2013: 16%). The total value of software orders received declined 3% year-over-year. The total number of
contracts signed for new software decreased 3% to 54,120 (2013: 55,909 contracts), while the average order value increased by 1%. Of all our
software orders received in 2014, 22% were attributed to deals worth more than 5 million (2013: 24%), while 44% were attributed to deals worth
less than 1 million (2013: 44%).

Our stable customer base, continued investment in software by customers throughout 2014 and the previous year, and the continued success of

our premium support offerings resulted in an increase in support revenue from 8,738 million in 2013 to 9,368 million in 2014. The SAP
Enterprise Support services offering was the largest contributor to our support revenue. The 631 million, or 7%, growth in support revenue
reflects a 9% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from currency effects. This growth is primarily attributable to SAP
Product Support for Large Enterprises, SAP Enterprise Support, and our premium offerings. The acceptance rate for SAP Enterprise Support
among new customers remained high at 98% in 2014.

Software and support revenue rose 514 million, or 4%, from 13,254 million in 2013 to 13,767 million in 2014. This growth breaks down into a
5% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from currency effects.

Software and software-related service revenue grew from 13,950 million in 2013 to 14,855 million in 2014, an increase of 6%. This reflects a
7% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from currency effects.

Professional Services and Other Service Revenue

Professional services and other service revenue consists primarily of consulting and other service revenue. We generate most of our consulting
revenue from the implementation of our software products. Other service revenue consists mainly of revenue from messaging services and of
training revenue from educational services supplied to customers and partners on the use of our software products and related subjects.

Professional services and other service revenue decreased 159 million, or 6%, from 2,865 million in 2013 to 2,706 million in 2014. This decline
reflects a 4% decrease from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from currency effects.
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Customers cautious buying behavior toward large services projects led to a decline in consulting revenue from 2,242 million in 2013 to
2,095 million in 2014, a decrease of 147 million, or 7%. This decline reflects a 5% decrease from changes in volumes and prices and a 1%
decrease from currency effects. Consulting
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revenue contributed 77% of the total professional services and other service revenue (2013: 78%). Consulting revenue contributed 12% of total
revenue in 2014 (2013: 13%).

Revenue from other services decreased 12 million, or 2%, to 611 million in 2014 (2013: 623 million). This reflects a 1% decrease from changes
in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from currency changes.

Revenue by Region and Industry

Revenue by Region

Change in %

millions 2014 2013 2014 vs 2013
Germany 2,570 2,513 2%
Rest of EMEA 5,813 5,462 6%
EMEA 8,383 7,975 5%
United States 4,898 4,487 9%
Rest of Americas 1,591 1,746 9%
Americas 6,489 6,233 4%
Japan 600 631 5%
Rest of APJ 2,088 1,975 6%
APJ 2,688 2,606 3%
SAP Group 17,560 16,815 4%
Revenue by Industry

Change in %

millions 2014 2013 2014 vs 2013
Energy & Natural Resources 4,158 4,077 2%
Discrete Manufacturing 3,051 2,987 2%
Consumer 4,045 3,778 7%
Public Services 1,786 1,691 6%
Financial Services 1,697 1,633 4%
Services 2,824 2,649 7%
Total revenue 17,560 16,815 4%

Revenue by Region

We break our operations down into three regions: the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) region, the Americas region, and the Asia
Pacific Japan (APJ) region. We allocate revenue amounts to each region based on where the customer is located. For more information about
revenue by geographic region, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (29).
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EMEA Region
In 2014, the EMEA region generated 8,383 million in revenue, which was 48% of total revenue (2013:  7,975; 47%). This represents a

year-over-year increase of 5%. Revenue in Germany increased 2% to 2,570 million in 2014 (2013: 2,513 million). Germany contributed 31%
(2013: 32%) of all EMEA region revenue. The remaining revenue in the EMEA region was primarily generated in France, Italy, the

Netherlands, Russia, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom. Software and software-related service revenue generated in the EMEA region in

2014 totaled 7,028 million (2013: 6,616 million). Software and software-related service revenue represented 84% of all revenue in the region in
2014 (2013: 83%). Cloud subscription revenue rose 58% to 277 million in 2014 (2013: 176 million). This growth reflects a 57% increase from
changes in volumes and prices and a 1% increase from currency effects. Software and support revenue rose 5% to

53

Table of Contents 106



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I

Item 5

6,751 million in 2014 (2013: 6,440 million). This growth reflects a 6% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from
currency effects.

Americas Region

In 2014, 37% of our total revenue was generated in the Americas region (2013: 37%). Total revenue in the Americas region increased 4% to

6,489 million; revenue generated in the United States increased 9% to 4,898 million. This growth reflects an 8% increase from changes in
volumes and prices and a 1% increase from currency effects. The United States contributed 75% (2013: 72%) of all revenue generated in the
Americas region. In the remaining countries of the Americas region, revenue declined 9% to 1,591 million. This reflects a 5% decrease from
changes in volumes and prices and a 4% decrease from currency effects. This revenue was principally generated in Brazil, Canada, and Mexico.
Software and software-related service revenue generated in the Americas region in 2014 totaled 5,489 million (2013: 5,097 million). Software
and software-related service revenue represented 85% of all revenue in the Americas region in 2014 (2013: 82%). Cloud subscription revenue
rose by 55% to 709 million in 2014 (2013: 457 million); currency effects were 0%. Software and support revenue rose 3% to 4,780 million in
2014 (2013: 4,641 million). This growth reflects a 3% increase from changes in volumes and prices; currency effects were 0%.

APJ Region

In 2014, 15% (2013: 15%) of our total revenue was generated in the APJ region, with the strongest revenue growth being achieved in Australia.
Total revenue in the APJ region

increased 3% to 2,688 million. In Japan, revenue decreased 5% to 600 million. Revenue from Japan was 22% (2013: 24%) of all revenue
generated in the APJ region. The decline in revenue from Japan was attributable to a 2% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 7%
decrease from currency effects. In the remaining countries of the APJ region, revenue increased 6%. Revenue in the remaining countries of the
APJ region was generated primarily in Australia, China, and India. Software and software-related service revenue in the APJ region totaled
2,337 million in 2014 (2013: 2,237 million). That was 87% of all revenue from the region (2013: 86%). Cloud subscription revenue grew 59% to
101 million in 2014 (2013: 64 million). This growth reflects a 60% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 1% decrease from
currency effects. Software and support revenue increased 3% to 2,236 million in 2014 (2013: 2,173 million). This increase reflects a 5% increase
from changes in volumes and prices and a 2% decrease from currency effects.

Revenue by Industry

We allocate our customers to one of our industries at the outset of an initial arrangement. All subsequent revenue from a particular customer is
recorded under that industry sector.

In 2014 we achieved above-average growth in the following industry sectors, measured by changes in total revenue: Services ( 2,824 million, at a
growth rate of 7%); Consumer ( 4,045 million, at a growth rate of 7%); Public Services ( 1,786 million, at a growth rate of 6%); and Financial
Services ( 1,697 million, at a growth rate of 4%). Revenue from the other industry sectors: Energy and Natural Resources ( 4,158 million, at a
growth rate of 2%); and Discrete Manufacturing ( 3,051 million, at a growth rate of 2%).

54

Table of Contents 107



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I
Item 5
Operating Profit and Margin
Total Operating Expenses
% of % of
total total Change in %
millions 2014 revenue( 2013 revenue® 2014 vs 2013
Cost of software and software-related services 2,894 16% 2,629 16% 10%
Cost of professional services and other services 2,379 14% 2,402 14% 1%
Research and development 2,331 13% 2,282 14% 2%
Sales and marketing 4,304 25% 4,131 25% 4%
General and administration 892 5% 866 5% 3%
Restructuring 126 1% 70 0% 80%
TomorrowNow and Versata litigation 309 2% 31 0% <-100
Other operating income/expense, net 4 0 12 0% 65%
Total operating expenses 13,230 75% 12,336 73 % 7%
(1 Total revenue for 2014: 17,560 million.
(2 Total revenue for 2013: 16,815 million.
Operating Profit and Operating Margin
Change in %
millions, except for operating margin 2014 2013 2014 vs 2013
Operating profit 4,331 4,479 3%
Operating margin (in %) 24.7% 26.6% 2.0pp

In 2014, SAP continued to invest in innovation and made substantial advances in the cloud business. In addition and among other influences,
negative currency effects and the difficult economic situation in Latin America and Russia affected our profitability. As a result, our operating
profitin 2014 was 4,331 million, a little less than in the previous year (2013: 4,479 million).

In 2014, our operating expenses increased 894 million or 7% to 13,230 million (2013: 12,336 million). The increase relates primarily to an
expense in connection with the TomorrowNow and Versata litigation, restructuring costs, continuing investment in our sales organization, and a
rise in personnel and infrastructure costs, especially for our cloud business.

The effect of acquisition-related expenses, which were 562 million (2013: 555 million), of restructuring expenses, which were 126 million
(2013: 70 million), and of a 309 million expense relating to the TomorrowNow and Versata litigation weighed more heavily on operating profit
than in the previous year. Continuing investment in sales activities around the world and in the cloud also affected operating profit. Our

employee headcount (measured in full-time equivalents, or
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FTEs) increased 7,834 year-over-year. Acquisitions accounted for more than 5,500 of the added FTEs.

Those negative effects on operating profit were in part offset by the reduced cost of share-based compensation programs totaling 290 million
(2013: 327 million) resulting from the declining year-over-year performance of the stock and by savings in general administration costs.

The overall result of these effects on operating profit was a 2.0 percentage point narrowing of our operating margin in 2014 to 24.7% (2013:
26.6%).

Changes to the individual elements in our cost of revenue were as follows:
Cost of Software and Software-Related Services

Cost of software and software-related services consists primarily of customer support costs, cost of developing custom solutions that address
customers specific business requirements, costs for deploying and operating cloud solutions, amortization expenses relating to intangibles, and
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license fees and commissions paid to third parties for databases and the other complementary third-party products sublicensed by us to our
customers.

In 2014, the cost of software and software-related services increased 10% to 2,894 million (2013: 2,629 million).

Significant costs included an additional 180 million to extend our cloud business, especially outside the United States, with an associated
increase in the expense of delivering and operating cloud applications, and a 112 million rise in the cost of providing customer support. They
both represent investments that contributed to revenue growth. Our margin on cloud subscriptions and support widened 0.9 percentage points to
55.8% (2013: 54.8%). This improvement in margin was achieved primarily through strong growth in our cloud subscription and support revenue
and despite the increased expense we incurred to extend our cloud infrastructure. At the same time, the license fees we pay to third parties
decreased by 49 million.

The gross margin on our software and software-related services, defined as software and software-related services profit as a percentage of
software and software-related services revenue, remained constant year-over-year at 81% in 2014 (2013: 81%).

Cost of Professional Services and Other Services

Cost of professional services and other services consists primarily of the cost of consulting and training personnel and the cost of bought-in
third-party consulting and training resources. This item also includes sales and marketing expenses for our professional services and other
services resulting from sales and marketing efforts where those efforts cannot be clearly distinguished from providing the professional services
and other services.

Our consulting business is being greatly affected as we trend away from classic software licensing and consulting revenue toward more
subscription revenue from cloud solutions. As a result, both our professional and other services revenue and our professional and other services
expense decreased. We reduced costs for professional and other services 1% from 2,402 million in 2013 to 2,379 million in 2014. Our gross
margin on

professional and other services, defined as professional and other services profit as a percentage of professional and other services revenue,
narrowed to 12% (2013: 16%).

Research and Development Expense

Our research and development (R&D) expense consists primarily of the personnel cost of our R&D employees, costs incurred for independent
contractors we retain to assist in our R&D activities, and amortization of the computer hardware and software we use for our R&D activities.

Although our personnel costs grew because of the 6% increase in our headcount by the end of the year, our R&D expense increased only 2% to
2,331 million in 2014 from 2,282 million in 2013. R&D expense as a percentage of total revenue was slightly less year-over-year at 13.3%
(2013: 13.6%). For more information, see the Products, Research & Development, and Services section.

Sales and Marketing Expense
Sales and marketing expense consists mainly of personnel costs, direct sales costs, and the cost of marketing our products and services.

Our sales and marketing expense rose 4% from 4,131 million in 2013 to 4,304 million in 2014. The increase was mainly the result of greater
personnel costs as we expanded our global sales force and of the reallocation and re-tasking of employees to sales-related work. By increasing
our sales force we accelerated our revenue growth. The ratio of sales and marketing expense to total revenue, expressed as a percentage,
decreased slightly to 24.5% year-over-year (2013: 24.6%) because costs grew less rapidly than revenue.
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General and Administration Expense
Our general and administration expense consists mainly of personnel costs to support our finance and administration functions.

General and administration expense increased 3% from 866 million in 2013 to 892 million in 2014. That this increase was modest compared to
the growth in our revenue is primarily the result of careful cost management. The ratio of general and administration expense to total revenue
was unchanged in 2014 at 5% (2013: 5%).
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Financial Income, Net

Financial income, net, changed to 25 million (2013: 66 million). Our finance income was 127 million (2013: 115 million) and our finance costs
were 152 million (2013: 181 million).

Finance income mainly consists of interest income from loans, financial assets (cash, cash equivalents, and current investments) and income of
derivatives. This increase is attributable to a higher average liquidity and slightly higher interest rates than in 2013.

Finance costs mainly consist of interest expense on financial liabilities ( 93 million in 2014

compared to 131 million in 2013). The decrease year-over-year is mainly due to positive effects from interest rate derivatives and due to lower
average indebtedness. For more information about these financing instruments, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section,
Note (18b).

Income Tax

Our effective tax rate increased slightly to 24.7% in 2014 (2013: 24.4%). For more information, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements section, Note (11).

Our 2013 Results Compared to Our 2012 Results (IFRS)

Revenue
Revenue
Change in
%

millions 2013 2012 2013 vs 2012
Cloud subscriptions and support 696 270 >100
Software 4,516 4,658 3%
Support 8,738 8,237 6%
Software and support 13,254 12,895 3%
Software and software-related service revenue 13,950 13,165 6%
Professional services and other service revenue 2,865 3,058 6%
Total revenue 16,815 16,223 4%

Total Revenue
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Total revenue increased from 16,223 million in 2012 to 16,815 million in 2013, representing an increase of 592 million, or 4%. This growth
reflects an 8% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 5% decrease from currency effects. The growing revenue resulted primarily
froma 426 million increase in cloud subscription and support revenue and a 501 million rise in support revenue. Consulting revenue declined by

200 million and software revenue by 142 million. Software and software-related service revenue climbed to 13,950 million in 2013, an increase
of 6%. Software and software-related service revenue represented 83% of total revenue in 2013 (2012: 81%). In 2013, professional and other
service revenue contributed 2,865 million to our total revenue, representing a drop of 6% compared to 2012.

For more information about the breakdown of total revenue by region and industry, see the Revenue by Region and Industry section below.
Software and Software-Related Service Revenue

Revenue from cloud subscriptions and support refers to the income earned from contracts that permit the customer to access specific software
solutions hosted by SAP during the term of its contract with SAP. Software revenue results from the fees earned from the sale or license of
software to customers. Support revenue represents fees earned from providing customers with technical support services and unspecified
software upgrades, updates, and enhancements.

Cloud subscriptions and support revenue increased from 270 million in 2012 to
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696 million in 2013. This increase is largely due to the acquisition of Ariba on October 1, 2012, and due to continuing strong growth at
SuccessFactors and Ariba in 2013.

A combination of a challenging macroeconomic environment in key markets and the accelerating industry shift to the cloud resulted in a 2%
software revenue increase from changes in volumes and prices. There was also a 5% decrease from currency effects. Overall, software revenue
declined 142 million or 3% from 4,658 million in 2012 to 4,516 million in 2013. In 2013, SAP HANA contributed 633 million to total software
revenue.

Software and support revenue rose from 12,895 million in 2012 to 13,254 million in 2013, representing an increase of 359 million, or 3%. This
growth consists of an 7% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 5% decrease from currency effects.

In 2013, software and software-related service revenue grew from 13,165 million in 2012 to 13,950 million, representing an increase of 6%. This
software and software-related service revenue growth reflects an 11% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 5% decrease from
currency effects.

Our customer base continued to expand in 2013. Based on the number of contracts concluded, 16% of the orders we received for software in
2013 were from new customers (2012: 19%). The total value of software orders received fell 7% year over year. The total number of contracts
signed for new software decreased 6% to 55,909 (2012: 59,289 contracts), while the average order value decreased by 1%.

Our stable customer base, continued investment in software by new and existing customers throughout 2013 and the previous year, and the
continued success of our premium support offerings resulted in an increase in support revenue from 8,237 million in 2012 to 8,738 million in
2013. The SAP Enterprise Support services offering was the largest contributor to our support revenue. The

501 million, or 6%, growth in support revenue reflects an 11% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 5% decrease from currency
effects. This growth is primarily attributable to SAP Product Support for Large Enterprises, SAP Enterprise Support, and our premium offerings.
Accordingly, the acceptance rate for SAP Enterprise Support among new customers rose from 96% in 2012 to 98% in 2013.

Professional Services and Other Service Revenue

Professional services and other service revenue consists primarily of consulting and other service revenue. We generate most of our consulting
revenue from the implementation of our software products. Other service revenue consists mainly of revenue from the messaging services
acquired from Sybase and of training revenue from educational services supplied to customers and partners on the use of our software products
and related topics.

Professional services and other service revenue decreased from 3,058 million in 2012 to 2,865 million in 2013, representing a decline of
193 million, or 6%. This decline reflects a 3% decrease from changes in volumes and prices and a 4% decrease from currency effects.

Customers cautious buying behavior toward large services projects led to a decline in consulting revenue from 2,442 million in 2012 to

2,242 million in 2013, representing a decrease of 200 million, or 8%. This decline reflects a 5% decrease from changes in volumes and prices
and a 4% decrease from currency effects. Consulting revenue contributed 78% of the total professional and other service revenue (2012: 80%).
Consulting revenue contributed 13% of total revenue (2012: 15%).

Revenue from other services increased 7 million, or 1%, to 623 million in 2013 (2012: 616 million). This reflects a 5% increase from changes in
volumes and prices and a 4% decrease from currency changes.
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Revenue by Region

millions
Germany
Rest of EMEA
Total EMEA
United States
Rest of Americas
Total Americas
Japan
Rest of APJ
APJ
SAP Group
Revenue by Industry

millions
Energy & Natural Resources
Discrete Manufacturing
Consumer
Public Services
Financial Services
Services
Total revenue

Revenue by Region

Part I

Item 5

2013
2,513
5,462
7,975
4,487
1,746
6,233

631
1,975
2,606

16,815

2013
4,077
2,987
3,778
1,691
1,633
2,649

16,815

2012
2,382
5,130
7,512
4,413
1,647
6,060

791
1,860
2,650

16,223

2012
3,926
3,109
3,646
1,614
1,444
2,485

16,223

Change in
%
2013 vs 2012

5%

6%

6%

2%

6%

3%

20%

6%
2%

4%

Change in
%
2013 vs 2012
4%
4%
4%
5%
13%
7%
4%

We break our operations down into three regions: the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) region, the Americas region and the Asia Pacific
Japan (APJ) region. We allocate revenue amounts to each region based on where the customer is located. For more information about revenue by
geographic region, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (29).

The EMEA Region

In 2013, the EMEA region generated 7,975 million in revenue, which was 47% of total revenue (2012: 7,512; 46%). This represents a
year-over-year increase of 6%. Total revenue in Germany increased 5% to 2,513 million in 2013 (2012: 2,382 million). Germany contributed
32% (2012: 32%) of all EMEA region revenue. The remaining revenue in the EMEA region was primarily generated in the United Kingdom,

France, Switzerland, the Netherlands, Russia, and

Table of Contents

116



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F
Italy. Software and software-related service revenue generated in the EMEA region in 2013 totaled 6,616 million (2012: 6,126 million).
Software and software-related service revenue represented 83% of total revenue in 2013 (2012: 82%). Software & Support revenue rose by 7%

to 6,440 million in 2013 (2012: 6,043 million). This growth reflects an 8% increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 2% decrease from
currency effects. Cloud subscription and support revenue grew 113% to 176 million (2012: 82 million).

The Americas Region

In 2013, 37% of our total revenue was generated in the Americas region (2012: 37%). Total revenue in the Americas region increased 3% to
6,233 million; revenue generated in the United States increased 2% to 4,487 million. This growth reflects an 5% increase from changes in
volumes and prices and a 4% decrease from currency effects. The United States contributed 72% (2012: 73%) of all revenue generated in the
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Americas region. In the remaining countries of the Americas region, revenue climbed 6% to reach 1,746 million. This growth reflects a 15%
increase from changes in volumes and prices and a 9% decrease from currency effects. This revenue was principally generated in Brazil,

Canada, and Mexico. Software and software-related service revenue generated in the Americas region in 2013 totaled 5,097 million (2012: 4,789
million). Total software and software-related service revenue represented 82% of all revenue in the Americas region in 2013 (2012: 79%).

Software and support revenue remained flat as a 5% increase in volume and prices was offset by a 5% decrease from currency effects. Cloud
subscription and support revenue grew by 184% to 457 million (2012: 161 million), representing 66% of worldwide cloud subscription and
support revenues.

The APJ Region

In 2013, 15% (2012: 16%) of our total revenue was generated in the APJ region, with the strongest revenue growth being achieved in China.
Total revenue in the APJ region decreased by 2% to 2,606 million. In Japan, revenue fell by 20% to 631 million, which represents 24% (2012:
30%) of the total revenue generated in the APJ region. This drop in revenue is attributable, in full, to currency effects. In the remaining countries
of the APJ region, revenue increased by 6%. Revenue in the remaining countries of the APJ region was generated primarily in Australia, China,
and India. Software and software-related service revenue generated in the APJ region in 2013 totaled 2,237 million (2012: 2,250 million). That
was 86% of total revenue (2012: 85%). Software and support revenue decreased by 2% to 2,173 million (2012: 2,224). This decline reflects an
9% increase from changes in volume and prices and a 11% decrease from currency

effects. Cloud subscription and support revenue grew by 139% to 64 million (2012: 27 million).
Revenue by Industry

With effect from January 2013, we rearranged our industry sectors from nine groups into six so that we could focus better on the requirements of
existing and potential customers.

We merged one of our existing industry sectors, process manufacturing which covers the chemicals and mill products industries ~ with the
energy and natural resources industry sector. We combined our former consumer products and the retail and wholesale distribution industry
sector into the consumer sector. The healthcare and life sciences (medical and pharmaceutical) industries, which were previously grouped
together under the healthcare sector, now belong to the public services or consumer industry sectors, respectively. To address the changing needs
of our customers, a new industry subgroup was established, sports and entertainment, which is part of the professional services sector.

We allocate our customers to one of our industries at the outset of an initial arrangement. All subsequent revenue from a particular customer is
recorded under that industry sector.

In 2013, we achieved above-average growth in the following sectors, measured by changes in total revenue: Financial Services ( 1,633 million, at
a growth rate of 13%), Services (2,649 million, at a growth rate of 7%), Public Services ( 1,691 million, at a growth rate of 5%), and Energy and
Natural Resources ( 4,077 million, at a growth rate of 4%). The revenue from the other industry sectors: Consumer 3,778 million, which was a
4% improvement on the prior year; Discrete Manufacturing 2,987 million, which was a 4% decline mainly related to APJ and the Americas.
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Total Operating Expenses
% of % of
total total Change in %
millions 2013 revenue() 2012 revenue® 2013 vs 2012
Cost of software and software-related services 2,629 16% 2,553 16% 3%
Cost of professional services and other services 2,402 14% 2,520 16% 5%
Research and development 2,282 14% 2,261 14% 1%
Sales and marketing 4,131 25% 3,912 24% 6%
General and administration 866 5% 949 6% 9%
Restructuring 70 0% 8 0% >100
TomorrowNow and Versata litigation 31 0% 2 0% <-100
Other operating income/expense, net 12 0% 23 0% 46%
Total operating expenses 12,336 73 % 12,181 75% 1%
(1 Total revenue for 2013: 16,815 million.
(2 Total revenue for 2012: 16,223 million.
Operating Profit and Operating Margin
Change in %
millions, except for operating margin 2013 2012 2013 vs 2012
Operating profit 4,479 4,041 11%
Operating margin (in %) 26.6% 24.9% 1.7pp

In 2013, our operating profit totaled 4,479 million (2012: 4,041 million), a significant year-over-year increase despite adverse currency effects.
We invested in innovations and made substantial advances in our cloud business in 2013.

In 2013, operating expenses increased 155 million or 1% to 12,336 million (2012: 12,181 million). The main contributors to that increase were
our greater acquisition-related and restructuring expenses, continued investment in sales activities and the cloud, and higher personnel and
infrastructure expenses related to acquisitions.

The effect of acquisition-related expenses, which were 555 million (2012: 537 million), and restructuring expenses, which were 70 million
(2012: 8 million), on operating profit was greater than in the prior year. The operating profit for 2013 was also affected by continued
investments in global sales activities and cloud computing. The number of SAP employees (expressed in full-time equivalents FTEs) rose year
over year by 2,150 persons, including more than 1,100 employees from acquired businesses.
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Those negative effects on operating profit were in part offset by a reduced expense for share-based payments, which totaled 327 million in 2013
(2012: 522 million) owing to a less steep increase in the SAP stock price, and a reduction in our general and administration expense.

As an overall result of these effects on operating profit, our operating margin widened 1.7 percentage points to 26.6% in 2013 (2012: 24.9%).
The sections that follow discuss our costs by line item.
Cost of Software and Software-Related Services

Cost of software and software-related services consists primarily of customer support costs, cost of developing custom solutions that address
customers specific business requirements, costs for deploying and operating cloud solutions, amortization expenses relating to intangibles, and
license fees and commissions paid to third parties for databases and the other complementary third-party products sublicensed by us to our
customers.

61

Table of Contents 120



Edgar Filing: SAP SE - Form 20-F

Table of Conten

Part I

Item 5

In 2013, the cost of software and software-related services increased a modest 3% to 2,629 million (2012: 2,553 million). The main factors were
a 95 million acquisition-related increase in the cost of providing and operating our cloud solutions and a 13 million increase in customer support
costs. They both represent investments that contributed to revenue growth. At the same time, the license fees we pay to third parties decreased

by 29 million. The gross margin on our software and software-related services, defined as software and software-related services profit as a
percentage of software and software-related services revenue, remained constant year over year in 2013 at 81% (2012: 81%).

Cost of Professional Services and Other Services

Cost of professional services and other services consists primarily of the cost of consulting and training personnel and the cost of bought-in
third-party consulting and training resources. This item also includes sales and marketing expenses for our professional services and other
services resulting from sales and marketing efforts where those efforts cannot be clearly distinguished from providing the professional services
and other services.

The growth of our cloud business and increased demand for pre-bundled offerings led to a reduction in our professional and other services
revenue as well as in our professional and other services expense. We reduced costs for professional and other services 5% from 2,520 million in
2012 to 2,402 million in 2013. Our gross margin on professional and other services, defined as professional and other services profit as a
percentage of professional and other services revenue, narrowed to 16% (2012: 18%).

Research and Development Expense

Our research and development (R&D) expense consists primarily of the personnel cost of our R&D employees, costs incurred for independent
contractors we retain to assist in our R&D activities, and depreciation of the computer hardware and software we use for our R&D activities.

We acquired Ariba and SuccessFactors in the course of 2012, so in 2012 our R&D expense did not include a full year s Ariba and SuccessFactors

R&D. Moreover, the depreciation expense for R&D servers and computer systems was greater in 2013 than in 2012. Nonetheless, our total R&D
expense increased only slightly, by 1% to 2,282 million (2012: 2,261 million). Therefore, while we continue to increase our innovative capacity
our R&D expense as a percentage of total revenue was slightly less year over year at 13.6% (2012: 13.9%). For more information, see the
Research and Development section.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expense consists mainly of personnel costs and direct sales expense to support our sales and marketing teams in selling and
marketing our products and services.

Our sales and marketing expense rose 6% from 3,912 million in 2012 to 4,131 million in 2013. The increase was mainly the result of greater
personnel costs as we expanded our global sales force, notably for cloud business, and of the reallocation and re-tasking of employees to
sales-related work. By increasing our sales force we accelerated our revenue growth. The ratio of sales and marketing expense to total revenue,
expressed as a percentage, increased slightly to 24.6% (2012: 24.1%) because costs grew more rapidly than revenue.

General and Administration Expense
Our general and administration expense consists mainly of personnel costs to support our finance and administration functions.

General and administration expense decreased 9% from 949 million in 2012 to 866 million in 2013. This resulted mainly from a reduced
expense for share-based payment and efficient cost management. Consequently, the ratio of general and administration expense to total revenue
decreased in 2013 to 5% (2012: 6%).
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Financial Income, Net

Financial income, net, changed to 66 million (2012: 72 million). Our finance income was 115 million (2012: 103 million) and our finance costs
were 181 million (2012: 175 million).

Finance income mainly consists of interest income from loans and financial assets (cash, cash equivalents, and current investments), which was
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37 million in 2013 (2012: 45 million). This decrease is attributable to a lower average liquidity and lower interest rates than in 2012.

Finance costs mainly consist of interest expense on financial liabilities ( 131 million in 2013 compared to 130 million in 2012) and remained
virtually stable year over year. For more information about these financing instruments, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
section, Note (18b).

Another factor in financial income, net, in 2013 was the derivatives we utilize to execute our financial risk management strategy. The associated
time value effects from derivatives were reflected in interest income of 32 million (2012: 27 million) and interest expenses of 23 million (2012:
28 million).

Income Tax

Our effective tax rate decreased to 24.4% in 2013 (2012: 26.2%). The reason for the year-over-year decrease mainly resulted from prior year
taxes. For more information, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (11).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

Although our reporting currency is the euro, a significant portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than the euro. Since the
Group s entities usually conduct their business in their respective functional currencies, our risk of exchange rate fluctuations from ongoing
ordinary operations is not considered significant. However, occasionally we generate foreign-currency-denominated receivables, payables, and
other monetary items by transacting in a currency other than the functional currency; to mitigate the extent of the associated foreign currency
exchange rate risk, the majority of these transactions are hedged as described in Note (26) to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Also see
Notes (3) and (25) for additional information on foreign currencies.

In 2014, as in 2013, approximately 71% of our total revenue was attributable to operations in non-euro countries. That revenue had to be
translated into euros for financial reporting purposes. Fluctuations in the exchange value of

the euro had an unfavorable impact of 143 million on our total revenue for 2014, an unfavorable impact of 734 million on our total revenue for
2013, and a favorable impact of 548 million on our total revenue for 2012.

The impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations discussed in the preceding paragraph is calculated by translating current period

figures in local currency to euros at the monthly average exchange rate for the corresponding month in the prior year. Our revenue analysis,
included within the Operating Results (IFRS) section of Item 5, discusses at times the effect of currency movements which are calculated in the
same manner.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview

Global Financial Management

We use global centralized financial management to control liquid assets and monitor exposure to interest rates and currencies. The primary aim
of our financial management is to maintain liquidity in the Group at a level that is adequate to meet our obligations. Most SAP companies have
their liquidity managed centrally by the Group, so that liquid assets across the Group can be consolidated, monitored, and invested in accordance
with Group policy. High levels of liquid assets help keep SAP flexible, sound, and independent. In addition, various credit facilities are currently
available for additional liquidity, if required. For more information about these facilities, see the Credit Facilities section.
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We manage credit, liquidity, interest rate, equity price, and foreign exchange rate risks on a Group-wide basis. We use selected derivatives
exclusively for this purpose and not for speculation, which is defined as entering into a derivative instrument for which we do not have a
corresponding underlying transaction. The rules for the use of derivatives and other rules and processes concerning the management of financial
risks are collected in our treasury guideline document, which applies globally to all companies in the Group. For more information about the

management of each financial risk and about our risk exposure, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Notes (25) to
7).
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Liquidity Management

Our primary source of cash, cash equivalents, and current investments is funds generated from our business operations. Over the past several
years, our principal use of cash has been to support operations and our capital expenditure requirements resulting from our growth, to quickly
repay financial debt, to acquire businesses, to pay dividends on our shares, and to buy back SAP shares on the open market. On December 31,
2014, our cash, cash equivalents, and current investments were primarily held in euros and U.S. dollars. We generally invest only in the financial
assets of issuers or funds with a minimum credit rating of BBB, and pursue a policy of cautious investment characterized by wide portfolio
diversification with a variety of counterparties, predominantly short-term investments, and standard investment instruments. We rarely invest in
the financial assets of issuers with a credit rating lower than BBB, and such investments were not material in 2014.

We believe that our liquid assets combined with our undrawn credit facilities are sufficient to meet our present operating needs and, together
with expected cash flows from operations, will support debt repayments and our currently planned capital expenditure requirements over the
near term and medium term. It may also be necessary to enter into financing transactions when additional funds are required that cannot be
wholly sourced from free cash flow (for example, to finance large acquisitions).

To expand our business, we have made acquisitions of businesses, products, and technologies. Depending on our future cash

position and future market conditions, we might issue additional debt instruments to fund acquisitions, maintain financial flexibility, and limit
repayment risk. Therefore, we continuously monitor funding options available in the capital markets and trends in the availability of funds, as
well as the cost of such funding. In the recent years we were able to repay additional debt within a short period of time due to our persistently
strong free cash flow. For more information about the financial debt, see the Cash Flows and Liquidity section.

Capital Structure Management

The primary objective of our capital structure management is to maintain a strong financial profile for investor, creditor, and customer
confidence, and to support the growth of our business. We seek to maintain a capital structure that will allow us to cover our funding
requirements through the capital markets at reasonable conditions, and in doing so, ensure a high level of independence, confidence, and
financial flexibility.

After undergoing an external credit rating process, on September 19, 2014, SAP SE was assigned a first-time long-term issuer credit rating of A2
by Moody sand A by Standard & Poor s, both with the outlook Stable.

Our general intention is to remain in a position to return excess liquidity to our shareholders by distributing annual dividends and potentially
repurchasing shares. The amount of future dividends and the extent of future repurchases of shares will be balanced with our effort to continue to
maintain an adequate liquidity position.

Capital Structure

2014 2013 Change (in %)

millions % of Total millions % of Total
equity and equity and
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liabilities liabilities
Equity 19,598 51 16,048 59 22
Current liabilities 8,544 22 6,347 23 35
Non-current liabilities 10,366 27 4,695 17 121
Liabilities 18,909 49 11,043 41 71
Total equity and liabilities 38,507 100 27,091 100 42

In 2014, we took out a two-tranche bank loan of 4,270 million in total and is